

Department of Environment, Parks, Heritage and the Arts

AA002192

Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System for Tasmania

Final Report



 Hyder Consulting Pty Ltd

 ABN 76 104 485 289

 Level 5, 141 Walker Street

 Locked Bag 6503

 North Sydney NSW 2060

 Australia

 Tel: +61 2 8907 9000

 Fax: +61 2 8907 9001

 www.hyderconsulting.com



Department of Environment, Parks, Heritage and the Arts

AA002192

Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System for Tasmania

Final Report	
--------------	--

Author	Russ Martin	
Checker	Joe Pickin	
Approver	Ron Wainberg	
Report No	AA002192-R03-04	
Date	Thursday, 28 May 2009	

This report has been prepared for Department of Environment, Parks, Heritage and the Arts in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment for Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System for Tasmania dated 18 December, 2008. Hyder Consulting Pty Ltd (ABN 76 104 485 289) cannot accept any responsibility for any use of or reliance on the contents of this report by any third party.



CONTENTS

1	Exect	utive Summary	
2	Introduction		
3	CDS	Overview	
	3.1	Traditional CDS	
	3.2	More Complex US Models	
	3.3	Canadian Systems7	
	3.4	European CDS Models	
4	Key S	System Features	
	4.1	Deposit Amount9	
	4.2	Range and Types of Containers9	
	4.3	Container Sorting and Transport Arrangements	
	4.4	Container Recycling Industries and Products	
	4.5	Population Catchments13	
	4.6	Financial Arrangements14	
	4.7	Unredeemed Deposits	
5	Integ	ration with other Components of the Waste Resource	
	Mana	gement System	
6	Repo	rted Benefits and Costs 19	
7	Indus	try, Community and Government Attitudes	
	7.1	Literature Review Findings	
	7.2	Stakeholder Consultations for Tasmania21	
8	Conta	ainer Management in Tasmania27	
	8.1	Current Facilities / Systems for Recovering and Recycling	
		Containers in Tasmania27	
	8.2	Litter	
	8.3	Current Container Recovery Rates	
	8.4	Existing Markets for Recovered Containers	
	8.5	Current Performance of Kerbside Recycling in Relation to	
		Containers	
	8.6	Current Costs of Recyclable Material Recovered	
	8.7	Barriers and Opportunities for Increasing Beverage Container	
		Recovery in Tasmania	
	8.8	Implications for CDS Implementation	
9	CDS	Options Considered 35	
	9.1	Traditional CDS	

	9.2	Government-driven CDS Model	38
	9.3	Not-for-profit Business-driven CDS Model	38
	9.4	Hybrid CDS Model Specifically for Tasmania	. 39
10	Most	Feasible CDS for Tasmania	. 39
	10.1	Operational Approach	. 39
	10.2	Deposit Amount	40
	10.3	Scope of Containers	40
	10.4	Redemption Features	41
	10.5	Unredeemed Deposits	42
	10.6	Handling Fees/ Container Recycling Fees	42
11	Indica	ative Potential Costs and Benefits	. 43
	11.1	Legislative Arrangements and Related Costs	43
	11.2	Administration and Governance	45
	11.3	Extrapolation from South Australian Depot Data	46
	11.4	Material-Specific Calculations	47
12	Conc	lusions	. 52

Appendices

Appendix A References Appendix B Programme Details Appendix C Green Dot Overview

Glossary

ACT	Australian Capital Territory
ADF	Advance Disposal Fee
ARF	Advance Recycling Fee
b	Billion
CAD	Canadian Dollar
CDL	Container Deposit Legislation
CDS	Container Deposit System
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
CPI	Consumer Price Index
EPR	Extended Producer Responsibility
EU	European Union
m	Million
MGB	Mobile Garbage Bin
ML	Megalitres
NEPM	National Environment Protection Measure
NGO	Non-Government Organisation
NLI	National Litter Index
NSW	New South Wales
NZ	New Zealand
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
p.a.	Per Annum
RVM	Reverse Vending Machine
SA	South Australia
US	United States (of America)
WA	Western Australia

1 Executive Summary

Hyder Consulting was commissioned by the Tasmanian Department of Environment, Parks, Heritage and the Arts to conduct a Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System (CDS) for Tasmania. Simple in principle, CDS involves placing a deposit on certain non-refillable beverage containers that motivates consumers to return the containers for recycling in order to have the deposit refunded. Alternatively, for consumers that forego the deposit, councils can redeem the deposit through kerbside collections and individuals can pick up littered beverage containers to return them for the deposit.

By placing a value on certain containers, CDS can result in increased beverage container recovery and decreased beverage container litter. However, considerable debate exists over the social, economic and environmental costs and benefits of introducing CDS, and the merits of doing so compared to alternative approaches. Through analysis, literature and stakeholder consultations, this project aimed to develop the most feasible CDS for Tasmania should CDS be implemented on either a State or a national basis. It was outside the scope of this project to provide legal analysis or recommend whether Tasmania should or should not pursue CDS.

With the exception of Germany, all CDS programs in existence predated comprehensive recycling and litter management programs. Germany's program was intended more as a regulatory threat than as a workable model, and its introduction produced a wide variety of unique distortions. Therefore, there is no precedent for successfully introducing CDS on top of comprehensive recycling and litter management programs.

Introduction of CDS would have some negative financial impact on kerbside recycling, although the full extent cannot be quantified at this stage. Potential for scrap values to be diverted from kerbside recycling and impact on collection and processing contracts depends on the extent to which the deposit motivates consumers to redeem the containers, convenience of redemption options and the extent to which current recycling companies establish redemption facilities. Available data shows significant variation in existing CDS programs. Some revenue value would be lost as containers are diverted to redemption centres rather than through kerbside. Financial penalties would also apply to most if not all collection and processing contracts in Tasmania, as policy changes under CDS would affect the financial modelling on which the contracts were based. It would be necessary to use unredeemed deposits to offset these impacts. It is broadly recognised that CDS introduction would result in additional net system costs, the main question is how those costs are distributed.

In order to develop a suitable model and following analysis and consultations, Hyder developed a possible 'hybrid' CDS approach designed to deliver an optimal approach for Tasmania by learning from the strengths, weaknesses and opportunities of three principal models: 'traditional' CDS as in South Australia, a Government-driven approach as in California and a not-for-profit business-driven approach as in British Columbia.

Although additional analyses and consultations would be necessary to refine specific components, analysis indicates that the most feasible CDS for Tasmania would have the following features:

- A deposit of 20¢ per designated container applied to all beverages in liquid or "ready to drink" form intended for human consumption.
- Variable Container Recycling Fees to be paid to redemption operators to address program costs not captured in the deposit amount of unredeemed deposits.
- One designated not-for-profit business responsible for implementing the CDS system to be determined following an open, competitive process and Ministerial appointment. This

organisation would be obligated to deliver optimal coverage and convenience and maximise return rates, while minimising program costs.

- Ministerial authority to modify the scope of containers and other key program parameters as necessary.
- Regulatory provisions for addressing new beverage and packaging types as they enter the market.

A broad range of legislative arrangements and their respective costs would need to be considered prior to any introduction of CDS. Chief among these are: need for national consistency to minimise likelihood of Constitutional challenges; applicability of GST; objectives the program is intended to accomplish; robust exploration of options, specifically including an option with an advance disposal/recycling fee and a glass levy; analysis of social, economic and environmental costs and benefits; and evaluation of *Trade Practice Act* and *Mutual Recognition Act* implications. It is also essential to first understand the beverage market in greater detail than is currently available and then design CDS specifics around the market. Provisions should also be instituted to ensure that redeemed containers get recycled, including funding for local secondary market development for materials problematic in Tasmania such as glass.

Modelling was undertaken to develop indicative environmental benefits and marginal benefits for aluminium and glass, using a life-cycle assessment approach. Marginal benefits are the additional benefits resulting from CDS above and beyond assumed levels of baseline recycling activity. Although marginal impacts would result from consumers returning containers to redemption depots (whether in metropolitan or rural areas), these impacts are relatively insignificant given the environmental benefits from increased recycling that result in reduced greenhouse gas emissions and energy and water savings.

Associated environmental benefits of CDS other than reduced glass litter would likely accrue in jurisdictions other than Tasmania; benefits from reduced GHG emissions are global in nature and not likely to be credited specifically to Tasmania. Results are indicative only, are assigned broadly (i.e., not allocated to specific stakeholders) and do not include financial costs to implement CDS.

Transport of recovered materials to end use markets is likely to diminish most of the environmental benefits possible under CDS for aluminium and potentially glass. While secondary market development can offset some of the transport impacts for glass, recovered aluminium and plastics would still require shipment out of Tasmania.

2 Introduction

The Tasmanian Department of Environment, Parks, Heritage and the Arts (Department) commissioned Hyder Consulting (Hyder) to conduct a Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System (CDS) for Tasmania. The main objective of the study was to assist the Department in making informed decisions on the implementation of CDS in the State. This project did not address whether the CDS model proposed would be on a State or national basis, but was intended to apply comparably to either approach. It was outside the scope of this project to provide legal analysis or recommend whether Tasmania should or should not pursue CDS.

The study proceeded sequentially, with an initial literature review followed by stakeholder consultations and analysis to develop a best practice CDS for Tasmania, should CDS be implemented. This report flows in a similar sequence, with an overview of CDS models and program features followed by a summary of stakeholder discussions and a discussion of Hyder's views on the most feasible CDS for Tasmania. Findings from the literature review have been incorporated throughout this report.

In the past few years, CDS has become a more common reference to container deposit systems, which may be mandatory as container deposit legislation (CDL) or voluntary. The majority of literature and stakeholders consulted refer to CDL or container deposits. While this report will use 'CDS' to refer to most systems, research focuses mainly on CDL, as voluntary systems are used only in conjunction with refillable beverage container systems and these systems are no longer used in Australia. References are provided in Appendix A.

3 CDS Overview

The premise of CDS models is that by placing a deposit on eligible beverage containers, consumers are motivated to return the containers for recycling in order to have the deposit refunded. Alternatively, for consumers that forego the deposit, councils can redeem the deposit through kerbside collections and individuals can pick up littered beverage containers to return them for the deposit. CDS systems are generally regarded as an economic instrument rather than as a tax where revenues from unredeemed deposits are retained by fillers and retailers¹, although the importance of convenient container redemption has also been highlighted as important to avoid the perception as a tax².

Container deposit systems are an example of deposit-refund schemes, which provide a monetary incentive for consumers to return given products to collection centres for appropriate recycling or disposal³. Refund values can either be for all or part of the deposit paid, as part of the refund may be used to address system costs or fund litter and recycling programs⁴. Most models also charge some sort of handling fee to help cover program costs. Several CDS models are discussed below. More detail on each of the models is provided in Appendix B.

3.1 Traditional CDS

Nine US Statesⁱ and South Australia introduced 'traditional' CDS from the early 1970s to 1983. These systems have fairly simple deposit arrangements and were introduced when non-refillables first became available and while voluntary systems for refillables were still commonly used⁵. Litter reduction was commonly cited as a reason for introduction, although various court cases showed market protection for refillables was also a primary driver for introduction⁶. In the

ⁱ Connecticut, Delaware, Iowa, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, New York, Oregon and Vermont

AA002192—Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System for Tasmania Hyder Consulting Pty Ltd-ABN 76 104 485 289 g:\hyder\tas cdl aa002192\final report\aa002192-r03-04.doc

past decade, attempts to introduce CDS in Australia have focused more on extended producer responsibility (EPR) and product stewardship as objectives by attempting to shift physical and financial responsibility for container waste and litter management to beverage producers and consumers, rather than addressing container recycling and litter through State and local government programs funded by ratepayers⁷.

Key features of these systems include⁸:

- The deposit applies mainly to carbonated drinks (beers, waters and soft drinks) except in Maine, where still drinks are included, although wine, spirits and spirit-based drinks are also commonly included in Canadian programs and in South Australia (SA)ⁱⁱ.
- There is no centralised management of the deposit and minimal government involvement in tracking and reporting program details.
- Many containers are returned in-store to retailers that are allowed to accept only containers of the types and brands that they sell.
- The deposit is typically US 5¢, except in Michigan, where it is US 10¢. In SA the deposit was recently raised to A 10¢. Deposits of US 15¢ apply to most liquor in Vermont and some wines in Maine.
- Producer/wholesalers are commonly required in the original legislation to pay handling fees from US 1¢ to 3.5¢ per container to retailers or return depots. In SA, handling fees vary from A 29¢ to 45¢ per dozen units, and are incorporated into the wholesale price.
- No return targets were established for the programs and no EPR requirements apply to packaging.
- Deposit containers must be marked (although labels have been established to address individual State requirements while allowing national distribution).

An important consideration is that in each of these jurisdictions, CDS preceded comprehensive recycling and litter prevention programs⁹.

3.2 More Complex US Models

California and Hawaii introduced more complicated CDS approaches that are much more government-oriented in their approaches. California adopted their approach in 1986 and has made amendments several times since. Hawaii's approach was adopted in 2002, but did not take effect until 2005, due in part to opposition from the Governor. This delay and opposition created a variety of difficulties for Hawaii's program¹⁰.

Key features of these systems include¹¹:

- Broader scope of eligible containers than traditional CDS (section 4.2).
- Deposits are tied closely to collection and recycling arrangements.
- Deposit clearing programs are operated by State authorities rather than private companies.
- Collection and logistics are handled by private companies, with some State funding available.
- Complicated processing fees, handling fees and administration.

ⁱⁱ Wine in glass containers is not included in SA.

- Funding from unredeemed deposits is used for collection and recycling of other materials in addition to beverage container materials, plus litter control, education and administrative costs.
- Kerbside recycling of packaging materials was occurring, but under early development, as the programs were implemented.

California's approach (Figure 1) requires detailed auditing and accounting, which provides highly accurate and transparent reporting.



Figure 1 California Container and Financial Flows

Source: MS2 2006, updated to reflect 1 January, 2007 CRV increase

3.3 Canadian Systems

Nine of the ten Canadian provincesⁱⁱⁱ (all except Ontario) introduced CDS between 1970 and 1997.

Key features of these systems include¹²:

- Canadian liquor stores are predominantly government-owned, while liquor, wine and beer sales are strictly regulated.
- Three provinces (New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Newfoundland) have "half-back" deposits, with the full deposit refunded on refillables and half of the deposit returned on non-refillables, in order to promote refillables.
- There is an emphasis on producer responsibility, with industry expected to implement CDS and bear appropriate costs to do so.

Funding arrangements vary. For example, Alberta and several other provinces impose a Container Recycling Fee to ensure each container type finances its own recovery, while Quebec does not charge a Container Recycling Fee but instead is dependent on revenues from unredeemed deposits.

In British Columbia's approach (Figure 2) an industry consortium, Encorp Pacific, is responsible for central management, and ensures that industry has reasonable flexibility in running the

ⁱⁱⁱ Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, Nova Scotia, Newfoundland, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, Quebec and Saskatchewan.

AA002192—Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System for Tasmania Hyder Consulting Pty Ltd-ABN 76 104 485 289 g:\hyder\tas cdl aa002192\final report\aa002192-r03-04.doc

program. In addition to the deposits, a Container Recycling Fee may be charged to help ensure the full costs of recycling each type of container are being recovered. As with California, material flows and financial flows are precisely tracked and particularly transparent¹³. Handling fees (currently C 3¢) are paid to depots in addition to deposits¹⁴. Given varying deposits and Container Recycling Fee values, Figure 2 is indicative only (see Appendix B for details).



Figure 2 CDS in British Columbia Source: MS2 2006

3.4 European CDS Models

Six European countries have mandatory deposits on non-refillable beverage containers^{iv}.

Key features of these systems include¹⁵:

- Strong preference towards refillables, although Germany encourages containers seen as "environmentally preferable" (mainly refillables). Germany used CDS as a regulatory threat to maintain a quota for refillables, while Norway and Sweden used CDS as a means of reducing beverage container waste as non-refillables were increasingly introduced to the market.
- Despite the strong policy preference towards refillables, actual operation of the European CDS models is independent of related programs in those countries such as refillable systems, EPR programs and eco-taxes.
- All European programs feature return to retail and the use of reverse vending machines (RVMs). Depots are associated with North American and South Australian, not European, programs.
 - With the exception of Germany, all European CDS programs predate the implementation of comprehensive packaging recovery systems (such as the Green Dot, explained in Appendix C) for non-beverage packaging.

^{iv} Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Norway and Sweden.

The Swedish and Norwegian models are centrally managed, with private companies responsible for flows of deposits and handling fees as well as the transport and recycling of returned containers.

Germany has implemented EPR on packaging since 1991, including provisions to introduce CDS if the market share for refillables fell below established levels. The CDS introduced by Germany in 2003 contained only basic deposit obligations, not other details necessary to implement CDS effectively. German CDS resulted in a variety of distortions in part because legislators never intended that the deposit would take effect. After a successful challenge by the European Commission in the European Court of Justice, a variety of features were changed in 2006 to minimise the distortions¹⁶.

4 Key System Features

Specifics, by jurisdiction, for the following features are in Appendix B.

4.1 Deposit Amount

Deposit amounts are the principal factor affecting recovery rates under CDS. They are usually established, and rarely increased, in enabling legislation. Deposit values are:

- US: Typically US 5¢, except in Michigan (US 10¢) (A 7¢ to 15¢). Vermont applies a US 15¢ deposit on liquor containers, with all other eligible containers having a US 5¢ deposit. Maine also applies a US 15¢ deposit on some wine containers.
- South Australia: A 10¢.
- Canada: CAD 5¢ to 20¢ (A 6¢ to 25¢), depending on beverage, container size and container material type.
- Europe: 5 to 40 eurocent (A 10¢ to 83¢).

4.2 Range and Types of Containers

Scoping of which containers are subject to CDS has a significant impact across a range of CDS-related issues, including¹⁷:

- Implementation costs for brand owners.
- Whether containers are redeemed through collection depots or set out for kerbside recycling.
- Impact on yield of kerbside recycling.
- Material types collected through depots.
- Need for sorting by brand.
- Volumes and revenue flows that affect viability of collection depots.
- Levels of unredeemed deposits.
- Consumer preferences and impact on market share.

CDS programs vary key provisions by beverage type and material type. In all programs examined, community awareness and education is provided on the containers covered under CDS and information is provided on where the containers may be redeemed.

In most of the traditional CDS systems, the deposit applies only to carbonated drinks (beers, waters and soft drinks, however in Maine, still drinks are also included). In European programs, containers for milk and other dairy-based drinks, juices, wines and spirits are excluded from the deposit and handled by the relevant Green Dot systems. Plain milk is exempt in Europe, SA, most US States and Canadian provinces. Fruit juices, vegetable juices and nectars are exempt from most European programs and most US States, but included in many Canadian provinces.¹⁸

All jurisdictions with CDS include non-refillables for beer sold through retail (mainly cans and glass, sometimes PET); water (mainly glass and PET) and carbonated soft drinks (mainly in cans, glass and PET). Most CDS programs other than those in the US have expanded their scopes to include still soft drinks such as ready-to-drink squashes, iced teas, and still fruit drinks that are not classed as juices, as these have become more dominant in beverage markets. The variety of these drinks and their wide variety of container types (including cartons and pouches) can lead to confusion and affects whether they can be redeemed through RVMs or must be returned to depots. For example, Sweden and Denmark exclude juice and milk as they are commonly supplied in cartons that are not readily handled through RVMs.

California and Hawaii include fruit juices and drinks containing dairy products that are usually excluded from European programs. Sweden excluded milk and juice for hygiene reasons (growth of mould spores) when empty containers are returned to grocery stores. This is not a significant concern for programs where containers are returned to depots or through kerbside collections.¹⁹

Spirits are typically only included in Canadian programs and in SA. Wine is typically only included in Canadian programs. Common reasons for excluding wine and spirits from other CDS programs include:²⁰

- Less incentive to return empty containers, given relatively high retail prices.
- Generally not regarded as significant contributors to litter.
- Potentially long delays between purchase and redemption.
- Glass, the dominant container type for wine and spirits, is not included in certain CDS programs.

Most of these reasons would not apply to alcopops, and alcopops are therefore more likely to be subject to CDS.

Eligibility of containers based on beverage types can result in a variety of 'demarcation' issues and potential competitive distortions as the variety of beverages has expanded significantly beyond the beer and carbonated soft drinks dominant when most CDS programs were implemented. Some basic demarcation issues include carbonated soft drinks vs. still drinks, still drinks vs. juices, juices vs. milk-based drinks, carbonated water vs. still water, etc. Some programs include sports drinks and energy drinks in with carbonated soft drinks, which can result in additional demarcation issues. For example, Germany exempted drinks for special diets, which led producers of some sugar-free drinks to claim that they were suitable for diabetics, and hence exempt. Germany subsequently changed the exemption to drinks consumed "under medical supervision" ²¹.

California, Hawaii and Canadian programs apply deposits to a broader range of drinks and packaging types than traditional programs, in part because of a broader range of containers on the market at the time when they were implemented. These systems also subsidise kerbside collection, and the broader the scope of the deposit, the greater the revenue. A related but somewhat different characteristic is that programs with broader scopes of eligible containers tend to have lower redemption and recovery rates, due to confusion resulting from the wide

variety of product, container and packaging types and resulting recycling difficulties particularly for HDPE, PET, coloured resins and multi-layer containers. For example, California's addition in 2000 of non-alcoholic, non-carbonated containers to its law led to a sharp decline in the percentage of containers redeemed and an extensive education campaign was required to temporarily slow the decline.²²

Glass non-refillables (mainly for beer, water and some carbonated soft drinks) are included in most CDS programs except Sweden and Norway.²³

A 2007 report investigating best practice CDS for Western Australia (WA) recommended that CDS include the current range of CDS containers in SA as well as the additional containers covered in British Columbia, Alberta, Nova Scotia, and California, as chosen to optimise sustainability and as informed by independent economic analysis and stakeholder consultation. The report also recommended parallel recycling of deposit and non-deposit materials and the use of RVMs to expand the scope of containers.²⁴

A 1997 evaluation of proposed expansion of the Massachusetts (Mass.) CDS program found that expansion to include 'new age' containers would involve roughly ten times more sorting to achieve diversion of an additional 0.5% of the waste stream. Extra costs (in 1997 US\$ per ton) to achieve these results and comparison to the Vermont (Vt.) traditional CDS program are shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3 Comparison of US Collection and Processing Costs per Ton - Basic Kerbside, Traditional & Expanded CDS Source: C4ES 2000 based on Northbridge 1997

4.3 Container Sorting and Transport Arrangements

For all CDS programs, the filler/importer that first places eligible drinks on the market has a legal obligation to initiate a deposit, which is charged through to the final consumer. In all CDS programs except Germany the filler/importer also pays a handling fee (sometimes called a Container Recycling Fee, as in British Columbia) per unit to retailers and depots to cover administrative and sorting costs.

European systems have industry-led centralised deposit clearing arrangements so that consumers can redeem their containers at any participating retailer. All US programs rely instead on individual operators (except California and Hawaii which have State authorities filling this role). This is likely due to the relatively low deposit amounts and the reduced need to count redeemed containers accurately due to the lack of return targets. In the US, deposit requirements are also out of line with production and distribution patterns, so clearing arrangements would likely be relatively expensive in the US.²⁵

Redemption through return to point of sale (common in Europe and the US) provides high convenience and decent coverage, but tends to entail significantly higher costs. Redemption through depots (common in SA, Alberta, Nova Scotia and California) tends to be less convenient but more cost-effective. Depots also allow for larger volume returns (including from hotels, restaurants and clubs, estimated at 10-20% of depot returns in SA), offer increased convenience, potential cost savings and improved handling. RVMs can improve the efficiency of point of sale redemptions (common in Europe, California and increasingly in Hawaii). However, a number of studies have highlighted that RVMs occasionally refuse to redeem eligible containers, so alternative redemption must still be provided. A related issue is the form that can be accepted; for instance, in Hawaii flattened containers are accepted at depots but not in RVMs. Most programs involve some combination of these main redemption features.²⁶

Where CDS arrangements are industry-led, this is largely seen as a demonstration of producer responsibility. However, none of the European Green Dot producer responsibility organisations run a CDS, despite some areas of overlap. This is likely due to funding from separate sources and the need to keep CDS containers distinctly separate from other packaging materials during collections.²⁷

All CDS programs require that containers be kept intact until returned to a depot or scanned and crushed in an appropriate RVM in order to minimise fraud and ensure appropriate tracking. Prior littering, crushing or placement in kerbside collections results in consumers forfeiting the deposit. Some studies stress that consumers not redeeming the containers through depots or RVMs bear the cost of pollution by forgoing the value of the deposit²⁸, however this would not seem to address consumers that continue to use kerbside or other recycling programs.

RVMs have not been implemented in Australia apart from several demonstration machines. While some studies have highlighted relatively high implementation costs to tailor the machines to Australian conditions, recent RVM industry representations are that RVMs could provide 'zero net system cost' or result in a system surplus if unredeemed deposits and handling fees are used to support RVM implementation. These representatives have also flagged a potential \$50 million investment in an RVM network for CDS. A 'hub and spoke' model of RVMs serviced by central collection points has also been proposed for Australia.²⁹

Contractual arrangements for SA's unique collection arrangements through 'supercollectors' result in sorting by brand, glass colour and by deposit and non-deposit containers (18-20 sorts total³⁰). This results in inefficiencies and additional cost estimated at \$4.1 million p.a., or \$35,000 per depot.³¹ Current arrangements also provide no incentive for brand owners or fillers to help increase recovery rates³².

4.4 Container Recycling Industries and Products

'Traditional' CDS programs in the US and SA do not require that redeemed containers get recycled, and Germany only added this provision in 2006. Most studies that considered the issue have found that CDS programs result in 'cleaner' recycling streams due to the separate collection of CDS materials, especially glass. Views are however split on whether cleaner recycling streams under CDS provide significant benefits, including increased material value and improved yields. In a 2000 study for NSW, end users indicated that while recyclables would in fact be cleaner under CDS, there would be no price premium paid for such materials as material recovery facilities are designed to handle certain levels of contamination from kerbside recycling programs.³³ Ability to accommodate contamination is likely to have improved further since the study was undertaken.

A 2007 study for Queensland found it likely that where markets for recycled materials existed, kerbside recycling would have already been introduced, and that where kerbside recycling

exists, the impacts of CDS would be minimal. It is assumed that 'impacts' refers to benefits as the report notes kerbside recycling requires 'considerably less effort' than CDS³⁴. Government testimony before a Parliamentary inquiry in Tasmania observed that SA actually has the lowest recycling rates in Australia for some commodities and that CDS "is of little value for waste management unless accompanied by market development to increase the demand for recycled materials, otherwise the returned materials may be landfilled"³⁵. However, only California has a direct link to recycling markets, with funding from unredeemed deposits going in part to market development programs. Other CDS programs are mute on the issue.

Removal of glass from kerbside recycling should in theory reduce glass contamination and thus improve paper recycling. A 2000 study determined, however, that SA's newsprint recycling rates consistently lagged behind NSW, Victoria and the national average. Recent newsprint data from the Publishers National Environment Bureau shows that this gap has narrowed over time, with SA newsprint recycling rates generally mid-range among State recycling rates. It is therefore likely that other factors such as quality of recycling programs and proximity to end use markets are more significant contributors to paper recycling rates than the presence of CDS and the removal of glass.

In a 2009 survey of companies representing 90% of the Australian fibre recycling industry, 85% of respondents reported that glass is of no concern for paper recycling in Australia and only one fibre reprocessor, accounting for less than 6% of total industry turnover, reported problems resulting from glass contamination. The same study also found no discernible difference between states in levels of reported glass contamination and no price variation caused by glass contamination. The study noted that contamination was worse in the kitchen and hospitality sectors due to non-CDS containers for sauces, ingredients and wines.³⁶

In the early 1990s, the US State of Florida repealed CDS provisions that were set to take effect due to concerns about potential impacts on the State's kerbside recycling programs and concerns that by not addressing recycling markets, CDS would simply increase the supply of recovered materials without increasing demand for those materials. Oversupply would then lower market values for recovered materials, which was already a concern for State officials. Florida replaced the deposit provisions with a market-based advance disposal fee (ADF) to create demand for recovered materials by imposing a fee of US 1-2¢ on cans, bottles, jars and beverage containers from five ounces to one gallon, then providing exemptions from the fee in order to create competitive advantages for companies that actively improved recycling markets. Material types with recycling rates greater than 50% (aluminium and steel cans) were never subject to the fee, while containers that were subject to the fee could seek exemption through demonstrated recycled content rates (25% for plastics, 30% for paper and 35% for glass) or by causing an amount equal to the recycled content targets to be removed from the Florida waste stream and recycled. The program was allowed to sunset in 1995 after two years of implementation because it had achieved its objectives.³⁷

4.5 Population Catchments

32 depots are located within a 5-kilometre radius of each other in metropolitan Adelaide and these depots serve 93% of Adelaide's population. As with many Canadian and European depots, the SA depots were originally instituted to collect refillable bottles, and then ultimately transformed into CDS depots. A 2005 study for the SA Government found that given the fixed deposit amount, depot viability is largely based on geography and the depots increase consumer convenience by providing more locations where consumers can obtain refunds. The report also found that the depots over decades³⁸.

Modeling for a 2000 NSW report noted that to serve the same population base per depot as SA's would require the establishment of 114 collection depots in metropolitan Sydney, with an estimated establishment cost of at least \$34.2m and operations and maintenance costs of \$17.1m p.a. The same report noted that 66% of the rural NSW population lived within a 20km radius of licensed Council waste facilities and that these facilities could be converted to a potential 92 depot locations. A total 493 depots would be necessary in rural NSW to have SA's coverage. However modeling showed that only 30 to 60 rural depots would be economically viable without subsidies in the form of grants or handling fees.³⁹

A 2008 study provides some indicative values for population catchments in representative CDS programs⁴⁰:

- Nova Scotia (where in-store returns are prohibited): 83 depots for 940,000 population = 1 depot per 11,325 population.
- SA: 140 depots for 1.5m population = 1 depot per 10,714 population.
- Hawaii: 99 depots (92 fixed and 7 mobile) for 1.275 million population = 1 depot per 12,879 population.

4.6 Financial Arrangements

Deposit amount has strong interaction with other key program features and system requirements. Relatively low deposits⁴¹:

- May not result in high return rates.
- Represent a low proportion of retail drink prices.
- Provide less incentive to redeem through depots.
- Tend to result in less distortion, as any financial impacts of CDS implementation are not as amplified when compared to identical program features coupled with a higher deposit amount.

Relatively high deposits⁴²:

- Are more likely to promote container returns (in Canada 76% of the variance in recovery rates was positively correlated with deposit amounts⁴³).
- Provide greater incentive for fraud, which is costly to address.
- Increase the need for a clearing arrangement to avoid individual retailers either gaining or losing significant amounts from imbalances between the amount of deposits charged and the amount refunded.
- Increase the competitive distortion with non-deposit drinks.
- Can create disincentive for producers and governments to facilitate refunds, as increased revenue is available from unredeemed deposits.
- Can foster consumer dissatisfaction if consumers feel their redemption options are being limited in order to raise revenues.

Most Australian studies have either assumed or recommended deposits in the range of 10¢ to 20¢. A report investigating CDS for NSW recommended establishing setting an initial deposit at 10¢, with Ministerial discretion to increase the deposit on certain containers⁴⁴. A report investigating best practice CDS for WA recommended the deposit be either 10¢ or 20¢⁴⁵.

Studies have regularly reported declining recovery rates over time in CDS programs. While factors such as complacency and improvements in kerbside recycling are consistently cited, declining deposit values over time are seen as a significant factor. Most CDS programs still have their original deposit value. In 2008, SA's deposit value was raised from 5¢ to 10¢ because the container recovery rate had declined from 84% to 70%. In announcing the change, the Premier noted that the original deposit would be 32¢ in current dollar value if it had been regularly adjusted for inflation. California's Container Redemption Value was increased slightly in 2007 due to declining recovery rates.⁴⁶

Some Canadian provinces, plus Norway, Sweden and Denmark apply different deposit amounts to different container material types and container sizes. Some of these differing amounts were established in relation to concurrent refillable programs. However, US States and Germany apply one deposit rate to all eligible containers.

Interrelated with deposit amounts, redemption rates and program costs (especially where the deposit amount is relatively high) is the issue of fraud, especially redemption of containers on which deposits have not been paid. Although these fraudulent redemptions increase container redemption rates, they also hurt program financial flows, and increase governance costs for auditing, monitoring and enforcement. For instance, when Michigan reported a 98% redemption rate in the late 1990's, audits showed that one-third of the redeemed containers were from other states, illegal redemption was costing Michigan US\$16-30 million p.a. and illegal redeemers were using RVMs to redeem as many as 20,000 containers at a time for which deposits had not been paid. Maine, the most comprehensive US CDS program, has at times experienced container return rates calculated at 150% for similar reasons.⁴⁷

It has also been noted that as containers can be redeemed for deposits until they are 'cleared' and crushed, higher deposits can require retailers to minimise fraud by staff, as staff could simply rescan returned containers⁴⁸. Similar concerns could exist for depots. Measures to address these forms of fraud include secure storage and crushing of redeemed containers by RVMs and depots.

Given the relatively high deposits of Germany's CDS program and the identified potential for fraud, a whole new security system, including new labelling, was established in part on the belief that 'bar codes' are easy to copy if they are the only in-built security feature. The program required specially developed inks to be marked directly on eligible containers and special readers to be incorporated into RVMs.⁴⁹

A report from the Hawaii State Auditor⁵⁰ also has some interesting lessons for Tasmania. As with Tasmania, Hawaii is an island state and therefore would have less of the fraud common with simple cross-border vehicle trips. The Hawaii Auditor consistently highlighted the need to have established policies and procedures for verifying the data and financial flows of most key stakeholders, particularly beverage distributors and depot operators. Potential for fraud was highlighted in deposits paid by distributors, handling fees paid to depots, refunds claimed by depots for payments supposedly paid to consumers and even a lack of accountability for properly crediting funds received by the State. For instance, in 15 out of 16 cases auditors claimed, and were paid for, 50 containers when in fact they only had 40. The State Auditor noted that the State could consistently be paying for nonexistent or unlabeled containers and highlighted the difficulties involved in auditing recovered material flows given stockpiling, tracking lags and the nature of recyclables as commodities.

The value of recovered materials and unredeemed deposits are commonly factored in to CDS programs to help address operational costs. However, where financial arrangements do not cover the full costs of recovering particular container or material types, handling fees ('Container Recycling Fees' in Canadian programs such as Alberta and British Columbia) may be implemented to cover remaining costs. These values are regularly reviewed. While most US

handling fees are enshrined in legislation and have not been changed since their inception, programs such as Denmark, California and British Columbia regularly revise handling fees to reflect ongoing audits of actual program costs.⁵¹

Linkages between handling fees and implementation/operational costs vary. In Norway, Sweden and North America, retailers are gradually compensated over time for their investments through handling fees for each returned container. Retailers with RVMs in Norway and Sweden receive slightly higher handling fees than those without RVMs. Denmark offered grants to install RVMs, but grant recipients were given lower handling fees. Danish handling fees were not available until September 2008. German retailers receive no handling fees at all.⁵²

In SA, handling fees are subject to complex negotiations where the program's supercollectors yield significant influence. A review of the program found that the program's unique structure resulted in "an industry that negotiates arrangements but does not compete for business. As such, the pricing of handling fees is based on negotiations and market power, not competition. Normal industry economics do not apply.⁵³"

The WA CDS inquiry recommended a container deposit and a variable resource recovery fee to be applied when recovery of certain containers is seen as uneconomical.⁵⁴

One issue that would need to be addressed in Australia is whether council facilities are modified to include depots, as several studies have suggested, and whether such facilities are treated comparably to private facilities. It has been noted that while many council facilities in Australia are operated by private contractors, their costs under CDS would likely be borne by consumers via increased rates. This could defeat a stated aim of CDS programs to demonstrate producer responsibility by shifting recycling costs directly to the beverage industry and beverage consumers. ⁵⁵ Related issues that would also need to be addressed include the extent to which contractors would be eligible to receive Container Recycling Fees or unredeemed deposits and the extent to which financial arrangements would provide incentive for contractors to offset money lost on collection contracts by setting up depots or other collection systems.

4.7 Unredeemed Deposits

Since not all containers will be returned, unredeemed deposits will always result under CDS. The allocation and use of these unredeemed deposits varies. In traditional CDS and some other models, unredeemed deposits are retained by retailers or beverage fillers to help recover program costs. These industry-led programs are generally regarded as demonstrating producer responsibility, however there is little accountability or transparency, and often uncertainty about the accuracy of redemption rates.

California and Hawaii are prime examples of the alternative, where unredeemed deposits accrue to public funds. The trade-off for the increased transparency of these programs is that implementation costs are often significantly higher.

Considerable debate on unredeemed deposits focuses around:

- Amounts and uses of resulting funds.
- Whether they should be counted as a cost, benefit or benefit transfer.
- Whether affected parties actively discourage container redemption in order to raise more revenue.
- Whether producer responsibility is still demonstrated if unredeemed deposits accrue to public funds.

The CDS inquiry for WA noted that a 'sizeable' fund from unredeemed deposits would result if CDS was introduced and supported an independent body with a representative board of directors using the funds to support resource recovery, fund social marketing and education of the program and support recycling in regional and remote communities⁵⁶.

5

Integration with other Components of the Waste Resource Management System

A key area of contention in debating the introduction of CDS in a modern context is integration with other components of the waste management system, particularly kerbside recycling.

Advocates often point to CDS programs running concurrently with kerbside recycling and highlight the potential for cleaner recovered materials under CDS to argue that CDS and kerbside recycling are complementary. However, with the exception of Germany, all CDS programs were developed and implemented prior to comprehensive recycling programs (while Hawaii had some kerbside recycling in place, the CDS was introduced because the program was immature and lagging well behind other programs). As kerbside recycling was implemented, collection and processing contracts could factor existing CDS programs into cost structures and plan accordingly.

Key questions for introducing CDS on top of comprehensive recycling include⁵⁷:

- To what extent would consumers be motivated by the deposit to redeem containers through CDS, as opposed to forfeiting their deposits by recycling through kerbside?
- How would containers that still go through kerbside recycling programs be addressed?
- To what extent would existing public and private infrastructure be utilised?
- What would the impacts be on program yields, material value, and on CDS containers and non-CDS materials that remain in kerbside?
- Would collection efficiencies from diverted CDS containers be significant and provide cost savings?
- To what extent would collection and processing contracts be affected, and what would the costs be to renegotiate contract provisions?
- Would local government programs receive funding from unredeemed deposits to offset increased costs, or would such costs be passed along to ratepayers?

These concerns about conflicts with recycling programs caused Florida to repeal CDL provisions that were due to take effect in favour of a market-based ADF on packaging materials, with fee exemptions for recycling rates and recycled content, in the early 1990s⁵⁸.

Studies have highlighted that conflicts from CDS are likely to be less where recycling programs are non-existent or in their infancy, and where there is no 'competing' legislation addressing packaging as a whole (such as Australia's National Packaging Covenant or Green Dot programs). As program yields increase and programs are made more cost-effective, the potential conflicts from CDS introduction are higher.⁵⁹

Overall recycling rates do not correlate with the operation of a CDS.⁶⁰ In 2008, MS2 and Perchards analysed EU recycling rates for 2005 and determined that countries with parallel systems, CDS, kerbside and bring systems for other packaging achieve lower recycling rates than comparable countries without CDS (Figure 4). Of the five EU 'deposit states', only Germany exceeded the average recycling rate in the EU-15 countries in 2005. Germany has the second highest recycling rate in Europe; however Germany's DSD/Green Dot program began in

1990 and Germany's CDS program did not begin until 2003. It seems clear that a comprehensive approach, not CDS, was responsible for Germany's high packaging recycling rates.



New Member States

Figure 4: Container deposits and European recycling rates 2005 Source: MS2 and Perchards 2008

Debate over recycling rate comparisons highlights an important distinction between legislated CDL and CDS systems, which may be legislated or voluntary. The Boomerang Alliance disputed MS2 and Perchards' findings, arguing that some of the European countries with high recycling rates, including Austria, Luxembourg, the Czech Republic and the Netherlands indeed had deposits on beverage containers⁶¹. In response, Perchards reinforced that the report referred to legislated deposit systems and that voluntary CDS for refillable beverage containers was distinctly different for considering recycling rates, and was not applicable to Australia⁶².

Other multi-material collection systems can also potentially be undercut by CDS introduction. For example, 20% of the German producer responsibility organisation DSD's fee income in Germany came from packaging which was ultimately diverted to CDS instead. The introduction of CDS cost DSD over €300 million in 2003. Lost DSD licensing revenues are estimated at €250 million p.a.⁶³ The program has also resulted in a net increase in environmental impacts and significant market distortions. To avoid the additional deposit, consumers frequently buy less expensive refillable bottles, then fail to return them. Multi-material collection costs between €320 and €770 per tonne, while combination multi-material collection and CDS systems cost between €790 and €1200 per tonne.64

The Institute for Sustainable Futures determined that kerbside programs could benefit from the introduction of CDS, as CDS containers represented high volume, low value materials in kerbside programs and removing those containers through CDS would improve the efficiency of kerbside recycling⁶⁵. However, one study for Tasmania and one for Queensland reinforced that introduction of CDS on top of comprehensive recycling programs could result in significant loss

of revenue from the sale of recyclables if consumers are motivated by the deposits to take containers to depots instead of leaving the containers in their kerbside recycling programs⁶⁶.

These potential conflicts would need to be considered in evaluating alternative CDS models, along with allocation of unredeemed deposits, which could be used to help offset the conflicts and address program costs.

CDS can decrease beverage container litter, which generally accounts for 8-10% of the litter stream, but has no effect on other litter types⁶⁷. Although in theory deposit-refund schemes such as CDS can be effective in addressing illegal disposal, they are not suited to high volume waste streams.⁶⁸

The ability of deposit systems to provide incentives for return is debatable. For example, return rates are low for a variety of reusable agricultural and veterinary chemical containers, even though they can carry deposits of \$350 or \$1,000 and users can return the containers to the same stores where they purchase new supplies.⁶⁹

6 Reported Benefits and Costs

Benefits commonly reported for CDS include⁷⁰:

- Financial incentive for consumers to return containers.
- Increased beverage container recovery (60-80%, sometimes higher).
- Decreased beverage container litter.
- Increased recovery of CDS materials can reduce greenhouse gas emissions and provide other environmental benefits.
- Conservation of landfill space.
- Promotion of resource recovery.
- Addressing away from home (AfH) consumption of beverages, which is not addressed by kerbside recycling programs. AfH consumption was previously estimated at 50% overall, but was recently estimated at 25% for glass and aluminium beverage containers and 45% for PET beverage containers⁷¹).
- Reduced contamination in kerbside recycling programs.
- Shift waste and litter management costs from ratepayers and local governments to beverage producers and consumers, consistent with the 'Polluter Pays' principle.
- Can be used to establish an infrastructure network for collection of non-packaging items under product stewardship/EPR arrangements.
- Potential funding source for charities, sporting clubs, etc.
- Effective regulatory threat to compel industry to implement, expand or increase funding for reuse, recycling and litter management efforts.
- Reduced incidence of lacerations from broken glass.
- Proper design can minimise consumer inconvenience.
- Popular support, according to a variety of surveys.

Costs and drawbacks commonly reported for CDS include⁷²:

- Diversion of high value materials from existing comprehensive recycling programs, particularly kerbside recycling (potentially affecting 54% of kerbside volume but 77% of material value in Tasmania⁷³, and 33% of kerbside volume but 59% of material value in north Queensland⁷⁴).
- High marginal costs for recovery (\$900 to \$1,900 per tonne in the ACT, as opposed to \$110 per tonne for kerbside recycling⁷⁵; \$1,159 to \$2,219 per tonne in Victoria as opposed to \$150 per tonne for kerbside recycling⁷⁶; NZ \$1,580 per tonne in New Zealand⁷⁷).
- Potential for increased environmental impacts due to separate collection and transport.
- Simply increasing material supply without market development could reduce material values.
- A minimum doubling or tripling of existing costs for kerbside recycling (\$111 to \$157 per household p.a. in Victoria, up from \$28.85 household p.a.)⁷⁸.
- Reduced yields in kerbside recycling programs.
- Little or no impact on non-beverage container litter and overall litter rates.
- Additional costs and inconvenience for manufacturers and retailers that are not related to core business activities.
- Expensive method for litter control.
- Street litter could increase due to scavenging.
- Inconvenience for consumers to redeem containers.
- No direct relationship with overall high recovery rates and diversion from landfill.
- Applying EPR to packaging goes against OECD and EPR principles, as beverage packaging is not hazardous or toxic, and material sales values can provide significant benefits for recycling programs.
- CDS may be an overly simplistic approach to address complex environmental aspects of packaging, and may therefore not be as effective as alternative approaches.

Some aspects are especially debated. For example, various studies highlight potential employment and economic benefits for staffing depots and sorting containers, while others say CDS simply transfers benefits from other, more productive areas of investment and represent benefits transfer rather than new benefits⁷⁹.

7 Industry, Community and Government Attitudes

7.1 Literature Review Findings

Early CDS introduction was often supported by certain groups in the North American and Australian beverage industries as a means of protecting local markets for refillable bottles. However, as non-refillables and kerbside recycling were steadily introduced and as refillable beverage systems were eliminated in the US and Australia, most beverage industry players came to oppose CDS as discriminatory against beverages. Retailers also tended to oppose CDS due to container take-back requirements and additional costs. In Australia, there has been strong opposition by the beverage and packaging industries and support for kerbside recycling and the National Packaging Covenant. However, the large beverage manufacturer Diageo has expressed support for CDS as part of the WA CDS inquiry. European industry views are more divided and depend more on the particular industry in question. A 2004 survey of SA residents found 78% strongly supported the SA CDS scheme; 13% slightly supported the scheme; 5% did not support the scheme; and 3% did not support the scheme at all. A majority felt CDS had been effective in: encouraging and promoting the recycling and reuse of container materials (92%); reducing litter in South Australia (88%); and reducing the number of beverage containers that go into landfill (86%). 60% of respondents surveyed returned beverage containers to collection depots (80% knew depot locations); 32% used kerbside recycling without redeeming the deposits; and 4% disposed of their beverage containers to depots more than four times a year and 25% redeemed at depots 1-3 times per year.⁸⁰

Consultations for the Queensland waste strategy showed a generally negative view on the potential introduction of CDS in the State. Apart from environment and community groups, stakeholders felt that there were 'more important' issues to address. All sectors felt that greater benefits would result from a national CDS approach than from one that was State-based.⁸¹

The convenience of CDS compared to kerbside recycling is likely to have a significant impact in consumer decisions to redeem containers. In a 2000 survey, 82% of SA residents surveyed said that if kerbside recycling and collection depots were equally convenient, they would recycle via kerbside collections.⁸² A 2008 study on the potential introduction of CDS in Ireland found only 7% of respondents said that in-store CDS was their first choice of collection arrangement, compared with 51% that preferred kerbside collection and only 14% that preferred recycling at the equivalent of depots⁸³.

In Hawaii and California, audits have been used to establish redemption rates for large quantities of containers in order to facilitate redemptions. While more efficient, this can have a potentially negative impact on consumer attitudes. The State auditor in Hawaii noted that due to varying container sizes, different dollar amounts could result for the same number of containers, and many customers saw container counts as the only fair way to run redemptions.

Consumer attitudes, particularly in the US, have been heavily influenced by education efforts in CDS States to promote the programs and encourage redemption.

Government attitudes to CDS vary. Those with traditional CDS in place are usually quite supportive, and only one program, in Columbia, Missouri has been repealed (Florida repealed their CDS provisions before they could take effect). However, few new CDS programs have been introduced since more comprehensive recycling and litter control approaches have been implemented. The exceptions are Germany, which introduced CDS due to industry failure to maintain a market quota for refillables, and Hawaii, which was introduced to penalise industry for failure to more fully develop recycling infrastructure.

7.2 Stakeholder Consultations for Tasmania

During January and February 2009, Hyder conducted semi-structured interviews with key stakeholders identified in consultation with the Department. Those consulted represented local and state government, community organisations and beverage companies, plus waste management and resource recovery organisations.

Representatives from the following organisations were consulted (in alphabetical order):

- Clean Up Australia
- Cradle Coast Authority
- Fosters Group
- Keep Australia Beautiful Council (Tasmania)
- Kentish Council
 - Launceston City Council

- Lion Nathan
- Local Government Association of Tasmania (LGAT)
- Northern Midlands Council
- Northern Tasmania Development
- OneSteel Recycling
- Packaging Stewardship Forum of the Australian Food and Grocery Council
- Revive Recycling (a supplier of RVMs)
- Scouts Tasmania
- Southern Waste Strategy Authority
- Tasmanian Small Business Council
- Veolia Environmental Services

Most consultations were conducted via telephone and were intended to obtain local perspectives.

Stakeholders that were contacted but did not offer comments include:

- Athena Waste Management
- Coca-Cola Amatil
- Diageo
- Hobart City Council
- Jones Waste Management
- National Association of Charitable Recycling Organisations
- Tasmanian Chamber of Commerce and Industry
- West Coast Council

Stakeholders were consulted on their views of:

- Current facilities / systems for recovering and recycling containers in Tasmania
- Current container recovery rates
- Existing markets for recovered containers
- Current performance of kerbside recycling in relation to containers
- Current cost per unit (e.g., per tonne) of recyclable material recovered
- Barriers and opportunities for increasing beverage container recovery in Tasmania
- Implementation of a CDS, including their preferred system and / or system features

Due to commercial considerations and a variety of data gaps, quantitative data was somewhat limited and a variety of views were influenced more by professional and personal experience. These consultations were supplemented with additional research, particularly with regard to publicly available data on container management in Tasmania.

A variety of views were expressed on the condition that they were not specifically attributed to those stakeholders. As these were some of the most valuable and relevant insights for this project, these views have been attributed generally (e.g., as a local government or an industry view).

CDS supporters included councils, community organisations and limited industries. Reasons cited for supporting the introduction of CDS in Tasmania by those stakeholders expressing an opinion include:

- Potential to reduce beverage container litter and increase resource recovery for beverage containers.
- Increased awareness of recycling and litter management.
- Shifting costs of recycling, litter and waste management for beverage containers from local governments to the beverage industry and beverage consumers.
- Employment opportunities.
- Funding from unredeemed deposits to fund other desired activities.

Representative comments from those supporting the introduction of CDS in Tasmania include:

- '80% recovery rates are achievable under CDS.'
- 'It is Council's belief that costs for collection and disposal of containers should be borne by the businesses that profit from selling beverage products, not by councils, community groups and individuals who are at present left to clean up roadsides. The businesses that bring thousands of empty containers to Tasmania for filling at present have no financial responsibility to see that they are returned to where the raw materials can be reused.'
- 'The optimal approach would be to let Government set the parameters, then have one single coordinating body, such as an NGO, responsible for implementation.'
- 'In practice, there will always be some containers not returned, and therefore unreturned deposit money. These funds can eventually become available for use by the NGO supercollector to fund cleanup days, litter and education campaigns, community grants etc. In SA the unclaimed balance remains in private hands, and for products like flavoured milk paperboard cartons, e.g., iced coffee, which have less than 40% return rate, rapidly amount to huge sums.'
- 'People from SA all say the same things about their program and they have such a strong awareness of container recycling.'
- 'A properly designed system should be self-funding through material value and unredeemed deposits.'
- 'Kerbside is a net cost issue. Containers have higher collection and sorting costs due to their volume.'
- 'I simply wish to make the point that just because we are improving our kerbside collections, that is not an argument for ruling out CDL. There are still plenty of things that go in the recycle bin, AND there are still all the reasons in our Council's policy (litter, employment creation, consumer awareness, manufacturers responsibility and increased diversion from landfill) to introduce CDL. In my own family recycling bin there is practically nothing that would get a CDL refund, but we still have enough to fill an MGB (mobile garbage bin). Tasmania needs both systems.'
- 'If Tasmania collected 80% of beverage containers and they were purer, end users could locate there.'
- 'The money from recycling can be valuable for small community groups.'
- 'CDS doesn't need as much education as kerbside.'

- 'Convenient infrastructure would raise awareness, for example if redemption opportunities were available at every store.'
- 'The only problematic material under CDS is glass; the others can be transported far.'

Most stakeholder opposition to the introduction of CDS in Tasmania was from the beverage and packaging industries, although there was some local government opposition. Reasons cited for opposition to CDS in Tasmania by these stakeholders include:

- Potential Constitutional validity of CDS introduction and barriers to trade have not been tested.
- System improvements such as shifting from crates to mobile garbage bins would likely result in greater resource recovery than CDS would.
- Narrow focus on beverage containers, as opposed to the broader range of containers that could potentially be recovered more cost-effectively through alternative approaches including comprehensive recycling, advance recycling fees and material-specific approaches (particularly for glass).
- The National Packaging Covenant is seen as preferable by being a national approach, broader in scope of packaging covered and in addressing broader concerns such as carbon footprinting, supply chain impacts and sustainability.
- Concern about potential impacts on recycling programs, particularly kerbside programs.
- Landfill levies were seen as a more direct means of funding waste management and resource recovery, compared to using unredeemed deposits from CDS introduction.
- Several felt that recent changes to the litter act and a more comprehensive approach to litter would deliver greater litter benefits than CDS.
- Cigarette butts, fast food items, etc., would not be captured under CDS, yet they represent the majority of litter.
- Potential for container scavenging from bins.

Representative comments from those opposed to introduction of CDS in Tasmania include:

- 'Tasmania must be prepared to defend the Constitutional validity of CDS and show effective enforcement that South Australia currently can't show. In South Australia, beer is included and wine isn't, yet both get littered. There are lots of basic enforcement issues that South Australia can't answer.'
- 'Whatever the objective sought, systems should be designed to achieve those objectives at the lowest cost possible. CDS is more expensive than other approaches for the same objectives, so it's not in the public's best interest.'
- 'CDS is expensive and distortionary at the expense of efforts to improve recycling.'
- 'The public understanding of CDS in South Australia is a lot different than what actually happens. South Australia's system was based on refillables, and we don't have those now. Packaging has changed dramatically.'
- 'Why not include glass jars, which get recycled now? (Particularly with regard to glass) why put materials through an energy-intensive collection and processing approach when they could go through a different system with less impact?'

- 'Look at materials vs. sectors there are uniquely different problems for glass and aluminium. CDS is too generic. Go broader, more material-based, with no crazy exemptions like SA.'
- 'CDS is a knee-jerk reaction to a litter perception problem.'
- 'Tasmanian consumers would bear 100% of the deposits and handling fees, as well as costs to ship materials across Bass Strait. We're still working through the South Australian deposit increase, but consumers are no longer absorbing the South Australian cost burden nationally.'
- 'We would pay for (material) shipment to the mainland, but we wouldn't if an approach was mandated.'
- 'CDS was a '70s solution to a '70s problem; you can't get more convenient than kerbside recycling.'
- 'We see kerbside (recycling) as an efficient system. To be worthwhile, CDS would have to be at least as efficient for kilos recovered per head of population, total recovery, etc.'
- CDS is seen as a panacea, perhaps without much information.'
- 'What would be the greenhouse impacts of lots of small consumer trips to redeem containers, as opposed to sending one truck down the street to collect recyclables?'
- 'We've gotten a strong kerbside system in Australia without paying people to participate. Why not focus on further improvements, when CDS could jeopardise existing programs?'
- 'Industry would definitely try to isolate the higher system costs under CDS to Tasmania, just as with South Australia's increase from 5¢ to 10¢ and as with industry's stated position in Western Australia's CDS investigation.'
- 'If industry-run, we could make a system work by having a levy, not CDS, and could then have fewer facilities to collect more material, e.g. all glass and not just beverage containers. This would also help stop free riding by those sectors that are not threatened by CDS.'
- 'What's done now will be implemented in 5-10 years, so look for the scheme that would be best in 5-10 years time.'

A range of public and private stakeholders were not firmly committed either way, stating that their views would depend on the intended objectives and/or wishing to see specific models and their costs / benefits. Representative comments include:

- 'If we could be convinced of CDS's value on litter reduction and resource recovery (and South Australia doesn't convince us) we'd support it.'
- 'I'm unconvinced of its likely success and the complexity of the issue makes it hard to see a good model.'
- 'There would be huge layers of administration to get transparency and accountability'.
- 'It seems to be a good idea in principle, but there's a lot more out there than just beverage containers.'
- 'Would people really redeem containers, especially when kerbside (recycling) is available?'
- CDS is popular with the community, where it is seen as a simplistic approach.'
- 'CDS is just a throwaway line. We need to focus on substantive issues.'

'We haven't considered it formally; personally I think it would be a good idea if net environmental benefits resulted.'

Kentish Council is the only local government identified that has taken a formal position in favour of CDS (in October 2007). In November 2007, the Southern Waste Strategy Authority (SWSA), representing twelve Southern Tasmanian Councils, addressed CDS in SWSA's proposal on a national waste management policy. In the submission, SWSA argued against CDS in favour of other approaches.⁸⁴

Most stakeholders were either unable or unwilling to propose specific models for introducing CDS in Tasmania, although several stakeholders raised concerns about costs and efficiencies of the SA model. Of those expressing views on possible CDS models, there was a clear preference for industry-driven approaches in order to minimise costs and increase recovery. One industry stakeholder said that California's government-driven CDS was not impressive and seemed costly. Those expressing a preference also indicated that infrastructure funding for establishing a redemption network should be provided up front by the state government, with those costs gradually repaid over time.

For those stakeholders that felt a deposit would motivate people to redeem containers through a CDS, most felt that a 10¢ deposit would provide sufficient incentive (especially if collection infrastructure was convenient). One local government representative indicated they personally would not be motivated by the deposit because at a 10¢ deposit value, they would have to redeem 40 containers to buy a cup of coffee. One industry stakeholder indicated that a 5¢ deposit would definitely be too low, and that a 20¢ deposit would still be less than many deposits in European CDS programs. This stakeholder also stated that they had not seen much evidence of fraud in those European programs.

Stakeholder views were mixed on whether CDS introduction would strengthen markets for recovered materials. While they felt that recovered materials would be cleaner under CDS, there were concerns that given existing premiums for some Tasmanian material, little benefit would result from CDS introduction. Some expressed concern that increasing the supply of recovered materials without creating greater demand for those materials could in fact worsen recycling in Tasmania by reducing the material value paid. These stakeholders also disagreed with CDS supporters' views that CDS introduction would result in new end use demand for recovered materials, citing the general lack of such demand in SA. For example, no major PET recycling facility has been located in SA, and the presence of glass recycling in SA was tied more closely with demand for bottles from the wine industry in SA than with CDS.

One stakeholder was concerned that RVMs could pose difficulties for material recovery facility recycling streams, saying that while broken glass would likely be less problematic, shredded plastic from the RVMs would be 'disastrous'.

Those stakeholders expressing a view were generally reluctant to see funds from unredeemed deposits go to the State. Most stated that the first priority should be for unredeemed deposits and handling fees to ensure the costs of parties implementing CDS were covered (various parties said costs should go to retailers, the beverage industry or an NGO responsible for implementation). Several stakeholders were concerned that revenues raised from local government programs (deposits and handling fees for containers recovered through kerbside collections) would be lost to state programs and/or be lost through consolidated revenue. Where these concerns were stated, there was often support for independent, external oversight for revenues and use of proceeds. One local government stakeholder suggested that the state government should keep the money from unredeemed deposits and use the funds for further education, cleanup days and recycling materials that are currently unprofitable, glass in particular.

Several stakeholders noted that Veolia handles most (around 90%) of the containers recovered in Tasmania and that CDS introduction could reduce critical mass to the point that Veolia's economics could be irreparably damaged, thus harming recycling in the state.

8 Container Management in Tasmania

Stakeholder views on current container management in Tasmania were included in the stakeholder discussions in section 7.2. This chapter incorporates these views, as supplemented by several publicly available reports which are referenced in Appendix A.

8.1 Current Facilities / Systems for Recovering and Recycling Containers in Tasmania

There is a general lack of comprehensive recycling data in Tasmania⁸⁵; this applies particularly to container management. Detailed data on container flows and recycling are not readily available.

Roughly 90% of Tasmania's recovered containers are processed through material recovery facilities owned by Veolia Environmental Services. The majority of these containers are collected from councils under collection contracts, although there are some collections from various transfer stations and public place recycling bins. Last year, Veolia invested \$3m in the Hobart material recovery facility, over \$600,000 in the Launceston material recovery facility and several million dollars in collection vehicles. Most containers are positively sorted^v, producing a fairly clean stream of materials. Aluminium and steel are magnetically sorted, and automatic sorting is available for some materials. Tasmania has long had a reputation for producing clean recovered materials (particularly PET plastic) that often earn a premium in end use markets⁸⁶.

Currently, 25 of the 29 Tasmanian Councils provide kerbside recycling in some form, although the level of coverage may vary⁸⁷.

Containers that households regularly put out for recycling in kerbside programs are shown in Table 1.

^v Positively sorted materials are specifically separated for recycling from commingled material collections (usually by manual sorting into dedicated bins). For example, PET plastic may be positively sorted due to its material value, while lower grade plastics may be compacted together and sold at a lower value.

Table 1: Containers Regularly Placed by Households for Kerbside Recycling - 2006

Items Put out for Kerbside Recycling (once every few weeks)	% of Households
Plastic bottles	86
Milk/juice cartons	83
Aluminium cans or items like foil	79
Steel cans	77
Glass/jars and bottles	76
Yoghurt and ice cream containers	55
Plastic margarine containers	40
Broken glass or ceramics	27

Source: SWSA 2006

Stakeholders generally felt that there is a strong 'drop-off' mentality in Tasmania for people in rural areas or locations without kerbside recycling to bring waste and recyclables to transfer stations or other waste facilities established by local governments. A 2006 survey found that 61% of households in Southern Tasmania used a local transfer station or rubbish tip⁸⁸. One stakeholder highlighted that in areas where kerbside collections were available, residents were likely to take containers to drop-off facilities if their container volumes exceeded available crate or mobile garbage bin capacity.

One local government stakeholder indicated that unmanned transfer stations often had recyclables contaminated by general waste and even controlled wastes until a shift to a smaller number of manned transfer stations that were open for longer hours. Another local government stakeholder felt that part of the community support for drop-offs and transfer stations was due to their being available for free or relatively cheap. This stakeholder felt that use of these facilities might decrease over time as standards were raised and as the costs to operate these facilities were passed on to consumers.

For the period July 2006 to September 2007, 100% of Councils in the Southern Tasmanian region offered public place recycling facilities, while 25% of Councils in the Northern region and 22% of Councils in the North-West region offered these facilities⁸⁹. While these facilities were not specifically described, they generally consist of sets of rubbish and recycling bins that are likely to be placed in prominent locations due to profile and traffic volumes.

Only 4% of southern Tasmanian residents surveyed in 2006 returned empty cans for cash scrap value⁹⁰.

8.2 Litter

Several stakeholders expressed the view that litter, a key driver for CDS introduction in various locations, is relatively low in Tasmania and that the operation of CDS in SA does not appear to affect overall litter rates. Several stakeholders highlighted that the National Litter Index (NLI)⁹¹ data shows low overall rates and declining total litter in Victoria as a result of education and enforcement efforts. Those stakeholders also stated that litter in SA is higher than in Tasmania, despite the presence of CDS in SA. Several stakeholders expressed the view that by item and by volume, the NLI data reveals little substantive difference between Tasmania and SA for littered container types.

The NLI shows that for total littered items per $1,000m^2$, Tasmania has among the lowest litter rates and along with Victoria is generally well below other States in litter volume (litres) per $1,000m^2$ (Table 2).

Table 2: National Litter Index

		tems per 1,000	m ²	Volume (litres) per 1,0) per 1,000m ²	
	05/ 06	06/ 07	07/08	05/ 06	06/ 07	07/08	
NATIONAL	70	74	68	8.86	9.68	8.58	
ACT	-	68	56	-	7.04	6.06	
NSW	80	71	77	14.95	14.69	11.90	
NT	-	64	60	-	5.32	7.24	
QLD	89	86	76	7.66	7.59	7.44	
SA	60	61	68	7.23	11.08	9.55	
TAS	59	70	61	5.15	6.68	5.90	
VIC	71	80	48	7.87	7.74	4.19	
WA	60	83	85	8.57	12.19	13.06	

Source: KAB 2008

With regard to specific littered items, including containers, NLI data for Tasmania by item count is provided in Figure 5.



Figure 5: NLI Data for Tasmania by Item - 2007/2008 Source: KAB 2008

With regard to specific littered items, including containers, NLI data for Tasmania by volume is provided in Figure 6.



Figure 6: NLI Data for Tasmania by Volume - 2007/2008 Source: KAB 2008

8.3 Current Container Recovery Rates

Total tonnages recovered from Tasmanian material recovery facilities in 2006-2007 of material types that could be recovered under CDS (depending on how the CDS was structured) are provided in Table 3.

Product	Tonnes
Milk cartons	182
Glass	10,572
PET	814
HDPE	689
PVC	110
LDPE	300
PP	110
Mixed plastic	372
Steel	920
Aluminium	377

Table 3. Decover	v from Taemania	Material Pecover	Excilition	2006-2007
Table 5. Recover	y moni rasmama	i Malenai Recovery	racinities	· 2000-2007

Source: Government of Tasmania 2008

Australian container material recycling rates are provided in Table 4, along with packaging consumption and recycling data. Given gaps in available data, it is not possible to determine
precise container recovery rates specifically for Tasmania or estimate how accurate the recycling rates in Table 4 would be for Tasmania.

Material Type	Total Consumption	Total Recycling	Recycling Rate	Kg / Capita Consumption	Kg / Capita Recycling
	U yi	t/ yi	/0		
Paper/Cardboard	2,639,000	1,720,000	65%	124	81
Glass Packaging	893,031	410,700	46%	42	19
Plastics Packaging	585,296	178,351	31%	27	8
Steel cans	92,399	34,760	38%	4	2
Aluminium beverage cans	48,791	34,300	70%	2	2
Total	4,258,517	2,378,111	56%	199	111

Table 4: Australian Packaging Consumption and Recycling Data - 2007

Source: MS2 and Perchards 2008

8.4 Existing Markets for Recovered Containers

Recovered materials are commodities, demand for which varies by material quality, end user demand, transport costs, the global economy and other factors. Tasmania's absence of container manufacturing facilities such as glass plants and container fibre mills means that there is no state-based demand for most recovered container material types and currently all recovered materials are shipped to the mainland or to overseas markets, apart from some newsprint that goes into insulation.

Several industry stakeholders indicated that a price premium is currently being paid for certain materials, such as PET plastic, recovered from Tasmania. Industry stakeholders report that all commodity prices had been down recently due to the global economic downturn, but had risen back to be 10-15% above the lowest rates reached in the downturn. Given the volume of containers recovered by Veolia Environmental Services, it was not possible to provide precise material values without betraying Veolia's commercially sensitive information. OneSteel, which focuses mainly on aluminium containers, indicated that aluminium values were down 60-70% over last year, noting they had paid \$1.20/kg last year and pay 50-60¢/kg now.

Demand for recovered materials has a direct impact on contractor costs to provide recycling and therefore the costs passed on to consumers. Roughly 25% of Council recycling contracts in Tasmania involve benchmarking of costs (periodic review of program charges to reflect markets, material values and other factors affecting the economic viability of recycling); the remainder are fixed to CPI changes only. Most commodity price risk is therefore borne largely by recyclers. When demand and/or values paid for recovered materials are relatively low, as is currently the case for most materials, recyclers receive less in revenue for the materials and may seek to pass along higher costs. Development of local markets for the recovered materials can help recyclers minimise these costs by reducing processing and transport costs or by providing greater competition for the recovered materials.

8.5 Current Performance of Kerbside Recycling in Relation to Containers

There was strong stakeholder support for kerbside recycling, with a full range of stakeholders feeling that kerbside recycling was headed in the right direction, despite some of the difficulties faced in Tasmania. The shift currently underway from various crate-based systems (particularly along the northwest coast) to mobile garbage bins for collecting containers kerbside was seen as especially encouraging, with stakeholders highlighting the potential for additional container recovery, reduced OH&S exposure and a decrease in wind-blown litter from the crates. The Cradle Coast Authority for instance, expected that the shift from crates to mobile garbage bins would result in an improvement in yield, increasing from the current 75 kg per tenement up to around 200 to 250 kg per tenement.

One industry stakeholder supported the efficiency of kerbside recycling, and cited kerbside as a prime example of industry and governments working well together while bringing consumers along. Stakeholders referred to broad community acceptance of kerbside recycling, as reflected in the placement of containers for kerbside recycling shown in Table 1.

8.6 Current Costs of Recyclable Material Recovered

Several stakeholders felt that the low cost of disposal in Tasmania made recycling look expensive in comparison. However, one local government stakeholder disagreed, saying that collection costs for recycling and disposal were the same, but gate fees for recyclables were cheaper in most locations. One industry stakeholder expressed the view that if transport costs to mainland Australia were as high as many believed, then Tasmania would not have such a low cost per household for recycling (Table 5). Several stakeholders felt that local governments would be even more sensitive to costs and under pressure to cut costs significantly with water and sewage assets being shifted from local government to the State.

Jurisdiction	Average Annual Pre by Council for Re	mises Fee Charged cycling Services	Annual per Premise Cost to Council to Provide a Recycling Service		
	Residential	Non-Residential	Residential	Non-Residential	
ACT	Not charged separately	Not charged separately	Not charged separately	Not charged separately	
NSW	\$68.80	\$62.06	\$214.00	\$ N/A	
NT	\$225.75	\$279.00	\$ N/A	\$ N/A	
QLD	\$35.00	\$35.00	Unknown	Unknown	
SA	\$56.41	\$55.72	\$56.41	\$55.72	
TAS	\$33.00	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	
VIC	\$53.51	\$61.64	\$33.32	\$ N/A	
WA	\$44.00	\$ N/A	\$36.00	\$ N/A	

Table 5: National Cost per Premises for Recycling - 2007-2008

Source: NEPC 2008

Costs of material collection and processing can vary significantly over time. Whilst some of these costs are addressed in long-term contracts with allowance for CPI increases, others are benchmarked and reviewed periodically. For example, in the Cradle Coast region, a processing contract tendered in July 2008 established a benchmark cost of \$27 per tonne for processing, with a six-monthly periodic review to adjust the price for factors such as material values, inflation and currency fluctuations. It is expected that this rate would increase during the next review due to the global economic downturn and lower current market values for most materials.

Costs to provide kerbside recycling collections are often cited as reasons to introduce CDS, with an expectation that the beverage industry and beverage consumers should bear a greater proportion of recycling costs. Several industry stakeholders indicated that low kerbside recycling costs in Tasmania argued against a commonly stated reason for introducing CDS. An analysis was undertaken of the most recent nationally consistent data available to determine Tasmania's cost per tonne of recyclables, and enable comparison against other jurisdictions (Table 6). The results show that Tasmania has the lowest cost per tonne collected and per tonne of recyclate sold (which adjust for contamination). This may be due in part to the number of crate-based systems still in existence and is likely to change as more systems move to mobile garbage bins. However, it should be noted that mobile garbage bins would likely contribute significantly to yields, so cost impacts are not readily apparent at this time.

Jurisdiction	Number of Residential Premises / Households	Tonnes of Recyclables Collected	Tonnes of Recyclate sold/sent for secondary use	Cost per tonne collected	Cost per tonne recyclate sold
ACT	133,000	38,790	35,264	N/A	N/A
NSW	2,660,275	689,591	628,043	\$265.41	\$291.42
NT	35,098	4,794	2,233	\$1,652.77	\$3,548.31
QLD	1,508,257	281,516	258,297	\$187.52	\$204.37
SA	616,828	130,249	112,034	\$267.14	\$310.58
TAS	175,940	34,558	31,102	\$168.01	\$186.68
VIC	2,134,602	604,960	539,513	\$188.81	\$211.71
WA	759,193	106,123	96,475	\$314.77	\$346.25

Table 6: National Cost Performance Data - 2007-2008

Source: NEPC 2008, with cost analysis by Hyder Consulting

All jurisdictions other than WA and Tasmania reported both tonnes of recyclables collected and tonnes of recyclate sold/sent for secondary use; WA and Tasmania each reported for only one category. To enable meaningful comparison for both datasets, WA and Tasmanian data were adjusted with an assumed 10% contamination.

8.7 Barriers and Opportunities for Increasing Beverage Container Recovery in Tasmania

Barriers to increasing beverage container recovery cited by stakeholders and in background research for the State⁹² include:

- Low disposal costs make resource recovery relatively expensive. Tasmanian landfills are all local government-owned and councils have traditionally subsidised landfill from general revenue. Price increases have proceeded slowly.
- Relatively low population densities and dispersed population can increase collection costs and make it difficult to collect significant volumes of containers for recycling.
- Low material quantities make economies of scale more difficult to achieve.
- Low industry base results in less local end use demand for recovered materials.

- Lack of local markets for beverage container materials, particularly glass, and distance to recycling markets on the mainland result in higher collection and recovery costs than would likely result if strong local demand was evident.
- Having to ship materials across Bass Strait to mainland end use markets can result in relatively high transport costs.
- Perception of greenhouse gas emissions involved with collecting, processing and shipping materials out of state, as opposed to local landfilling, can cause consumers to question the value of beverage container recovery in Tasmania.

Opportunities for increasing beverage container recovery cited by stakeholders include:

- The shift currently underway from crate-based systems to mobile garbage bins is expected to increase program yields for a broad range of packaging. Stakeholders also highlighted the potential benefit of decreasing windblown litter from the crate-based systems.
- Improved education on optimising current practices and new systems as they are introduced could significantly increase yields recovered.
- Local market development for recovered materials, particularly for glass, could help stabilise material markets and reduce costs for shipping to mainland and overseas markets.
- Expanded collections and collecting a broader range of materials from public places and commercial operations such as pubs and clubs could increase material volumes recovered and potentially make container recovery more viable (several stakeholders felt that low recovered volumes in Tasmania meant that recycling was often only marginally viable).
- Funding for program improvements and education through a broad-based advance disposal/recycling fee or material-specific fee, rather than specifically targeting beverage containers.
- Changing contractual arrangements to minimise compaction allowed during collection could reduce problems from glass breakage affecting other recovered materials, such as the potential for broken glass to become imbedded in recovered paper and other materials.
- One stakeholder suggested variable rate charges for waste would provide benefits by sending a price signal to encourage appropriate container recovery instead of disposal.

8.8 Implications for CDS Implementation

Some of the implications of stakeholder views for this project and for the potential introduction of CDS in Tasmania include:

- Preference for Tasmania to be part of a national approach to container management.
- Stated desires to review proposed models and understand their costs and benefits in order to better understand potential impacts and opportunities.
- Glass was consistently highlighted as a problematic material, especially with the introduction of more commingled collections. CDS could potentially result in greater quantities of cleaner, source separated glass than is currently collected. However, a variety of stakeholders highlighted the need for markets for the recovered glass and felt

that more direct means of addressing glass (such as levies or advance disposal/recycling fees) should be considered in lieu of CDS.

- Local governments and other stakeholders would seek to be compensated for any negative impacts of CDS introduction.
- Stakeholders felt strongly that unredeemed deposits should be channelled back into improved resource recovery and/or waste management efforts, including greater coverage in rural areas.
- Stakeholder preference for industry-driven and/or NGO-run systems could be accommodated in system design, however steps would have to be taken to ensure transparency and accountability.
- Deposit amount and convenient consumer returns would most likely be the greatest factors for program success.
- Encouraging container returns through depots and or returns to point of sale should seek to build on the strong 'drop-off' mentality in Tasmania and current willingness to take materials to transfer stations for resource recovery.
- Seek to optimise the roles of existing infrastructure, service providers and consumer familiarity with existing locations.
- Several stakeholders questioned whether return to retail could be implemented given likely opposition from retailers.
- Potential roles for RVMs and their impacts on markets for recovered materials would need to be examined in greater detail.
- Several stakeholders stated that if CDS were introduced, there would be a clear need for any state oversight/enforcement roles to be appropriately resourced and funded.
- Stakeholders expressing a preference indicated that the State government should provide funding up front for establishing a redemption network.
- Premiums are currently being paid for some materials recovered from Tasmania such as PET plastic, and some stakeholders questioned whether end users would in fact take any additional recovered materials. While cleaner recovered materials would likely result from CDS introduction, potential gains may not be as significant for Tasmania as they might be elsewhere. In addition, one industry stakeholder highlighted that improved technologies for minimising impacts of contaminated recyclables have been progressively rolled out in material recovery facilities since 2002.
- Composition of any advisory bodies should be representative.
- Several stakeholders viewed National Litter Index data as revealing relatively little difference between Tasmania and SA in terms of beverage container litter.
- Several stakeholders felt that introduction of CDS may not provide much substantive reduction in beverage container litter.

9 CDS Options Considered

In reviewing strengths and weaknesses of CDS approaches and considering options for Tasmania, it is important to understand the objectives of each approach as well as the factors that have affected timing and implementation. Broadly, however, some conclusions can be drawn for each of the models.

Some broad conclusions apply across all the CDS models (also refer to section 6):

- CDS is effective in addressing beverage container recovery and beverage container litter. Evidence is lacking on the contribution of CDS to broader sustainability issues such as greenhouse gas emissions and water quality.
- Effectiveness in addressing EPR and product stewardship depends to a great extent on structure (whether industry-led or government-led), integration with existing infrastructure and programs and allocation of unredeemed deposits.
- Significant unknowns include the extent to which deposits would motivate consumers to increase their recycling activity and the extent to which consumers would divert particular container streams away from existing recycling programs.
- Impacts would primarily affect Tasmanian organisations and consumers, while benefits from increased beverage container recovery would correctly be credited to the jurisdictions where the recovered materials are processed into new end uses. Therefore, environmental benefits of recycling would accrue in mainland Australia and in overseas markets. Environmental benefits of decreased beverage container litter would obviously accrue to Tasmania.
- Potential distortions if introduced on top of more comprehensive recycling, especially if deposit amounts are high or container scope is defined broadly. Distortions are less likely where unredeemed deposits are used to offset impacts and where stakeholders are more actively involved in CDS development.
- Recovery rates decline over time as deposits lose their value.
- Eliminating the need to sort by brand can significantly reduce program costs and is generally associated with more extensive use of RVMs.
- RVMs (particularly at point of sale) are generally regarded as a more cost-effective means of allowing convenient consumer redemption.
- Some form of manual handling is still necessary as RVMs sometimes fail to read eligible containers.
- The use of depots is viewed as less convenient but allows redemption of a broader range of containers and collection of non-beverage items under product stewardship schemes.
- Few programs address market development for the materials that are recovered.
- Participation rates tend to be high as programs are first implemented or modified, especially when comprehensive education and awareness programs are run.

Due to a significant lack of data on Tasmanian and national beverage container flows, it was not possible to conduct detailed quantitative modelling of alternative CDS options. Strengths and weaknesses of alternative models considered have therefore been evaluated and qualitative discussion of system features provided.

Significantly more detailed modelling of beverage container quantities and weights, by product type and by material type, will be necessary to effectively model CDS and alternative options to a standard suitable for a full Regulatory Impact Statement. All models considered would require greater definition, analysis and stakeholder consultations to refine further.

9.1 Traditional CDS

Traditional CDS, comparable to the SA model and detailed in Section 3.1, would entail a standard deposit of say 10¢ or 20¢ on designated glass, plastic and aluminium containers for beer, carbonated soft drinks and water. A limited range of containers beyond this primary scope

could be considered, but CDS programs vary this range considerably so this topic will be discussed further when evaluating the most feasible CDS for Tasmania (Section 10). Under traditional CDS, redemption could be provided through a varied mix of retail return, RVMs and depots.

Traditional CDS strengths include:

- Simplified administration and education due to narrow scope of eligible containers.
- Wide popular support.
- Basic producer responsibility as industry is expected to run the system with minimal government involvement.

Traditional CDS weaknesses include:

- Generally higher sorting and processing costs.
- Failure to amend over time as recycling options and the variety of beverage containers have expanded over time.
- Blurring of drinks categories means distortion of competition between deposit and nondeposit drinks.
- Lack of transparency about program costs and accuracy of return rates.

Objectives that a Tasmanian CDS should address have not been established by the Department for this report, so the objectives best suited for each CDS option have been considered. Traditional CDS is best suited to the objectives of increased beverage container recovery and decreased beverage container litter.

Traditional CDS tends to have relatively high implementation costs, but also higher recovery rates for the containers that are included. Traditional CDS would be a conservative approach likely to result in fewer disruptions than other approaches but also potentially less overall effect given the broad range of beverage containers currently available on the market.

Stakeholder views on traditional CDS were markedly divided, especially given SA's existence as the only active CDS model in Australia and as a prime example of some of the best and worst features of traditional CDS models (Section 7.2). South Australia's CDS model is over 30 years old and was one of the first legislated CDS programs on non-refillable beverage containers. A depot system for returning refillable containers was pre-existing and available for modification into a depot network. The unique supercollector arrangements in SA and requirements for sorting by brand and by container type under traditional CDS are generally more expensive than alternative approaches.

Businesses are effectively left on their own to implement traditional CDS and this model helps to demonstrate EPR. However, funds from unredeemed deposits are not effectively tracked or reported publicly on a regular basis. More recent CDS approaches have addressed a broader range of containers (an approach supported by Tasmanian stakeholders) and provide greater transparency and accountability (also supported by stakeholders), along with the ability to provide funding for broader litter, waste management and recycling programs. Most of SA's features (refillable container systems, existing depots, supercollector arrangements, etc.) would not be applicable to starting a CDS system in Tasmania. In addition, it seems most appropriate to design a system around Tasmania's current needs and likely needs in the near future. Traditional CDS was therefore ruled out of further consideration as the most feasible CDS model for Tasmania.

9.2 Government-driven CDS Model

A Government-driven CDS model, as in California and detailed in Section 3.2, would involve a broader scope of containers and more active Government role in program administration than evidenced in traditional CDS.

Government-driven CDS model strengths include:

- Transparency and accountability of program features including return rates.
- More money available from unredeemed deposits due to broader scope of eligible containers.

Government-driven CDS model weaknesses include:

- Higher costs and concerns about government operations due to more active government role.
- Broader scope of eligible containers can make demarcation and education efforts difficult.

Government-driven CDS models are best suited to the objective of ensuring availability of public funds for specified uses, given their strong emphasis on audits of container and financial flows.

Although Government-driven CDS helps address a number of concerns raised about traditional CDS, stakeholders expressing a view preferred industry-driven or NGO-driven approaches (see Section 9.3) as providing greater flexibility and opportunities to provide necessary services at minimal cost. Concerns were also raised in the literature review and during stakeholder consultations that where government is the principal beneficiary of funds from unredeemed deposits, higher costs are involved with accounting for public funds and a perverse incentive could be created where Government has little incentive to promote high recovery rates. A Government-driven CDS approach was therefore ruled out of further consideration as the most feasible CDS model for Tasmania.

9.3 Not-for-profit Business-driven CDS Model

A not-for-profit business-driven CDS model, as exemplified by British Columbia and detailed in Section 3.3, is often regarded as more neutral and/or independent than industry-driven or government-driven models. Several stakeholders stated a preference for an 'NGO-driven' model, however the term 'not-for-profit business-driven CDS model' has been used instead to avoid confusion with various community-based organisations.

Not-for-profit business-driven CDS strengths include:

- Relatively high link with producer responsibility efforts for non-beverage items.
- Industry is allowed a reasonable level of flexibility to keep program costs low, while still being more accountable than under traditional CDS.

Not-for-profit business-driven CDS weaknesses include:

 Potential for publicly available data on system performance to decrease over time (as evidenced in Germany's Green Dot program) unless appropriate measures or reporting requirements are instituted.

A not-for-profit business-driven approach tends toward product stewardship rather than a prescriptive EPR approach, and is also suited to an objective of balancing flexibility with accountability.

Although Government control over many features of alcoholic container sales in Canada limits direct comparisons, having one not-for-profit business (whether from industry, community

groups or some consortium) such as British Columbia's Encorp Pacific could simplify administration while still allowing for least-cost recovery to be pursued. A not-for-profit businessdriven approach was preferred by various stakeholders and was not distinctly ruled out as an option, however Hyder have opted to try to build on this model for potential application in Tasmania.

9.4 Hybrid CDS Model Specifically for Tasmania

In tailoring a CDS approach to meet Tasmania's needs, Hyder sought to learn from the experience of other jurisdictions and move forward, bearing in mind the encouragement of the Tasmanian stakeholder that suggested looking for the scheme that would be best in 5-10 years time. Details of the model viewed as the most feasible CDS for Tasmania are provided in Section 10.

10 Most Feasible CDS for Tasmania

Although additional analyses will be necessary to refine specific components, analysis and stakeholder consultation indicate that the most feasible CDS for Tasmania would be composed of the features detailed in this section.

10.1 Operational Approach

Analysis indicates that a modified not-for-profit business-driven approach would be best suited for Tasmania. South Australian and European experience has shown the difficulties and additional system costs that can result when multiple organisations bear various responsibilities for system implementation. This experience, coupled with Tasmania's small market size, argue for one designated not-for-profit business to be responsible for implementing the CDS system. Both industry-driven and NGO-driven approaches were supported by stakeholders expressing a view on proposed models, but we see no particular reason to exclude either and suggest leaving open the possibility of a not-for-profit business comprising industry and/or community groups, so long as the business is held accountable to strong performance criteria and is overseen by a skills-based Board of stakeholders. An industry-based Chair with broad experience in resource recovery would also seem to be a sensible approach.

Concerns about potential CDS introduction are especially warranted in Tasmania, where various recycling programs are seen as being only marginally viable economically. In order to minimise potential impacts and encourage local engagement and participation, Hyder recommend a multi-tiered approach to develop necessary background information and to determine the business to be given responsibility for a Tasmanian CDS program.

Significantly stronger data would be necessary to conduct a fully qualitative regulatory review of the proposed CDS model. While this data is being gathered, there is an opportunity to work with potentially affected stakeholders to further clarify likely program features and performance indicators the Department would expect of the appointed business. Funding for the organisation's activities would also need to be finalised. If recovery rates are one of the principal indicators for CDS success, as is often the case, then it would seem sensible to tie most program funding to recovery rates in order to facilitate the objective of high recovery rates (such as an aspirational target of say 80% recovery).

Following a decision to proceed with CDS introduction, an initial call for Expressions of Interest could be undertaken based on selection criteria to screen potential businesses, with the Department detailing relevant background information including container and material flows, available infrastructure and expected performance indicators. The burden could be placed

squarely on candidate businesses to develop specific proposals for addressing consumer convenience, redemption features (depots, RVMs and point of sale) to capitalise on existing and proposed infrastructure, and optimising a CDS approach while minimising costs. Following appropriate considerations and consultations, the responsible business could then be selected by Ministerial appointment, subject to relevant performance indicators.

We are not aware of a precedent for such an approach in CDS programs, but it would seem an appropriate means of harnessing competition and mutual education in order to develop a more effective system.

10.2 Deposit Amount

A standard deposit of say 10¢ or 20¢ per eligible container would seem appropriate, and be consistent with CDS models in Australia and overseas. Although accounting systems could readily accommodate deposit amounts outside of standard currency units, using standard currency would assist with community education and understanding.

Where stakeholders indicated that a deposit would motivate consumers, 10¢ was seen as sufficient (especially if collection infrastructure was convenient) and 20¢ was not viewed as providing significantly stronger incentive. A 20¢ deposit would likely increase recovery rates over a 10¢ deposit, and the fact that CDS recovery rates decline over time as the deposits lose their value would argue for starting a CDS scheme at a higher deposit amount. However, a higher deposit of either 20¢ or 50¢ could also result in significant distortions and potential for fraud and resulting higher costs to minimise these impacts (Section 4.6). Given the significance of likely distortions, a 50¢ deposit was ruled out of further consideration.

In order to provide greater incentive over time while minimising fraud, Hyder recommends a 20¢ deposit with clear program guidelines and auditing and enforcement provisions established and funded in advance of implementation. Compared to a 10¢ deposit, a 20¢ deposit should provide for higher recovery rates for a comparable range of containers, but even higher funding available from unredeemed deposits so the implications of unredeemed deposits highlighted in Section 10.5 will be especially significant. Given the potential for distortions between deposit and non-deposit containers under a relatively high deposit, careful selection of container scope (Section 10.3) will also take on greater importance.

System costs encompassed in the 'half-back' deposits of eastern Canada (Section 3.3) are perhaps better addressed through Container Recycling Fees or handling fees, as discussed below, than in the deposit amount. A standard deposit amount paid and refunded should assist in consumer education efforts.

10.3 Scope of Containers

Any feasible CDS model for Tasmania would apply at a minimum to designated glass, plastic and aluminium containers for beer, carbonated soft drinks and water. Many key issues in the CDS debate revolve around glass, so inclusion seems paramount. Plastic, particularly PET, is a key material for takeaway sales and littered carbonated soft drinks, while aluminium is also a common material for both alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverage containers. Beer, carbonated soft drinks and water are included in all CDS programs and are a significant source of beverage containers.

Demarcation within and beyond this traditional scope of beverage containers would be necessary. Most US CDS programs do not address still or non-carbonated waters, as they were rare when the programs were implemented. However, given the significance of the still water market sector and ongoing controversy over impacts of bottled water, still waters should be included. In addition, including still waters would incorporate a significant source of clean PET.

For ease of education and comprehensiveness, categories of water such as mineral water, spring water and flavoured waters should be defined and included. One potential distortion that would need to be considered would be the potential for some beverage companies to switch production to cartons in order to avoid participation in the CDS program⁹³.

Standard carbonated soft drinks are included in all CDS models, and would seem essential to include for Tasmania. Related beverages such as sports drinks, energy drinks and alcopops would need to be carefully defined, evaluated and considered for inclusion as many CDS models have failed to keep pace with the significant growth in these sectors in the past few decades.

Most countries, apart from most US CDS States, have expanded CDS over time to include ready-to-drink squashes, iced teas, and still fruit drinks that are not classed as juices. A study considering CDS for Ireland has recommended including these still soft drinks in CDS in order to minimise competitive distortions and consumer confusion, despite their relatively small market share⁹⁴. While such an approach would also seem sensible for Tasmania, there are associated difficulties that would need to be considered. For instance, if juice is excluded there would likely be confusion between fruit-based drinks subject to the deposit and exempt juice containers or confusion between ready to drink squashes and cordials diluted at home. These drinks could also be problematic for redemption through RVMs if they are packaged in cartons or laminated pouches. These concerns were specifically raised in the Ireland study.

In order to maximise equity and minimise potential distortions between beverage types, Hyder recommend that CDS apply to all beverages in liquid or "ready to drink" form intended for human consumption. Minimising potential distortions between deposit and non-deposit containers will be especially important given the relatively high 20¢ deposit recommended in Section 10.2. The broad scope of containers should also represent a more comprehensive approach to roadside litter than a narrower range of containers.

Clear Ministerial authority should be established to modify the scope of containers and other key program parameters as necessary. Regulatory provisions for addressing new beverage and packaging types as they enter the market will also need to be clearly delineated.

Recognising the potential health concerns raised particularly by Denmark and Sweden, containers for milk and juice should not be included in redemptions at point of sale, but could be redeemed at depots. Education efforts should specifically address reasons for this variability in container return options.

10.4 Redemption Features

Depots for container redemption would be necessary for any CDS program, including one where RVMs featured heavily, as RVMs are unlikely to be able to address all designated containers and sometimes refuse eligible containers. Applying the coverage rates outlined in Section 4.5 to Tasmania's population of around 500,000⁹⁵ results in the need for an estimated 38 to 46 depots to ensure comparable coverage to current CDS programs. At an estimated cost of \$250,000 to \$300,000 to modify existing facilities or create new facilities to serve as depots⁹⁶, initial capital costs of \$9.5m to \$13.8m could be expected for depot establishment.

While it would make sense to ensure effective coverage of redemption facilities in metropolitan areas and regional centres, there is insufficient data available to effectively model such approaches in sufficient detail. In addition, it would seem sensible to leave such an approach as the responsibility of the not-for-profit business recommended in Section 10.1, who would be obligated to deliver optimal coverage and convenience and maximise return rates, while minimising program costs.

10.5 Unredeemed Deposits

As noted in Section 4.7, unredeemed deposits will always result under CDS and considerable debate on unredeemed deposits focuses around their use.

Although the full extent of beverage container sales in Australia is not readily available by beverage type and by material type, industry sources reported a total figure of 10 billion beverage containers^{vi} sold in Australia in 2008⁹⁷. Allocating these sales in proportion to a 2008 Tasmanian population of around 500,000⁹⁸ and assuming beverage containers sales in Tasmania are not significantly different from national sales, an estimated 231.5 million beverage containers were sold in Tasmania in 2008. With a 10¢ deposit and 80% return rate, annual unredeemed deposits would amount to \$4.6m and rise to \$6.9m under a 70% return rate. With a 20¢ deposit and 80% return rate, annual unredeemed deposits would amount to almost \$9.3m and rise to \$13.9m under a 70% return rate.

Whether unredeemed deposits are channelled back in to offset costs of operation has a direct impact on the cost-effectiveness of alternative CDS models (Section 11). Stakeholders were generally supportive of unredeemed deposits being used to offset these costs (whether public or private) and several stakeholders stated that if CDS were introduced, any state oversight/enforcement roles would need to be appropriately resourced and funded. We note that at a 20¢ deposit amount, annual unredeemed deposits almost exactly equal the range of initial capital costs for depot establishment. Additional programs costs such as enforcement, education and other means of providing redemption facilities would need to be addressed through material scrap values and/or through additional Container Recycling Fee or handling fee arrangements.

Of those stakeholders expressing a preference, all supported the State Government providing funding up front for establishing a redemption network in order to reduce establishment costs and encourage industry participation. This is especially relevant to address concerns of the retailers and recyclers that the Government would need to make a CDS system work. The Government could allocate the initial funding, then recoup funds over several years through Container Recycling Fees and handling fees, as was done in Denmark.

Stakeholders were generally supportive of having an independent advisory body with a representative composition to oversee uses of program funds. If any unredeemed deposit funds are available after program costs are offset, then litter and recycling programs would seem appropriate recipients of funds. Specifically, market development for recovered materials would seem appropriate to help address concerns about impacts of CDS on markets for recovered materials.

10.6 Handling Fees/ Container Recycling Fees

Handling fees in the order of 2¢ to 5¢ per container paid to redemption facilities (such as depots or RVM operators) would be consistent with SA and overseas programs, however there is insufficient data available to set appropriate fees at this time. US CDS programs, in particular, established standard handling fees in enabling legislation that in many cases has not been amended since program implementation. Such an approach would seem counterproductive for Tasmania.

Hyder recommend that enabling legislation allow for variable Container Recycling Fees, such as in British Columbia, to be paid to redemption operators for addressing program costs not

vi Including imports and wine containers, and excluding dairy and composite containers

captured in the deposit amount of unredeemed deposits, and that such Container Recycling Fees be regularly reviewed, revised and reported in a transparent manner.

Regular independent auditing and verification of program costs, as performed in Denmark, California and British Columbia⁹⁹, should be an integral component of the process for establishing and refining the Container Recycling Fees over time.

As indicated previously, the issue of whether redemption facilities run by or on behalf of councils are treated comparably to private facilities and the impacts of these operations on council rates will need to be considered. This could have a direct impact on any stated aims to demonstrate producer responsibility by shifting recycling costs directly to the beverage industry and beverage consumers.¹⁰⁰ Related issues that would also need to be addressed include the extent to which contractors would be eligible to receive Container Recycling Fees or unredeemed deposits and the extent to which financial arrangements would provide incentive for contractors to offset money lost on collection contracts by setting up depots or other collection systems.

11 Indicative Potential Costs and Benefits

As indicated in Section 2, the main objective of the study was to assist the Department in making informed decisions on the implementation of CDS in the State. It was outside the scope of this project to provide legal analysis or recommend whether Tasmania should or should not pursue CDS and there was insufficient information on several key parameters (such as container estimates by product and material types and on specific recycling activities) to conduct detailed modelling. Nevertheless, a range of indicative potential costs and benefits are identified below.

11.1 Legislative Arrangements and Related Costs

Legislative and regulatory matters that should be addressed (directly or indirectly) prior to introduction of any CDS would include¹⁰¹:

- Objectives the program is intended to accomplish.
- Robust exploration of options; analysis of social, economic and environmental costs and benefits; and evaluation of *Trade Practice Act* (particularly for collection arrangements) and *Mutual Recognition Act* implications.
- Scope of containers to be included, including product types, container material types and sizes, as well as any necessary labelling requirements.
- Deposits, handling fees and other financial components and the applicability of GST to each of these components through the distribution and redemption cycle.
- Authority to impose the deposits.
- Authority to redeem the deposits (whether for depots, point of sale or RVMs, whichever are selected).
- Process for 'clearing' containers and responsibilities of designated parties (whether public or private).
- Whether or how the deposit would be applied in pubs, clubs and similar venues given the large quantities of beverage containers involved and potential ramifications on competition and taxation.
- Appropriate roles and responsibilities for convenience stores and milk bars will need to be carefully considered from both a convenience and enforcement perspective. For instance, would any convenience requirements for retailers specifically include or exclude small

retailers below a certain turnover threshold? Sweden and Denmark, in particular, have reported difficulties enforcing CDS provisions with convenience stores¹⁰².

- Return targets (if any) and processes for judging progress against the targets.
- Allocation of unredeemed deposits and any restrictions on their use.
- Any consumer information and education requirements.
- Regulatory process for making changes to the program over time.
- Legal authority to invoke fines for noncompliance and a fine structure that can be readily imposed.
- Key implementation timelines.
- Sunset provisions (if any).

Information on direct costs of these provisions is scarce, and could vary significantly depending on program design. Most information relates to overall governance, rather than valuing potential impacts or improvements. However, a review of collection arrangements in SA, in consultation with the Crown Solicitors Office, found that the depot system should ensure a fair price for depot operators, including reasonable returns and profits. It also found that the EPA could conduct a price review and cost determination in order to improve industry collection arrangements.¹⁰³

A multi-stakeholder group in the US studied 1999 program costs in CDS States (traditional CDS States plus California) and non-CDS States in three alternative measures (gross costs, net costs including material sales revenue and net costs less funds from unredeemed containers). Based on typical costs per-container, exclusive of processing fees, handling fees or local funding mechanisms, the report found (all values in 1999 US\$)¹⁰⁴:

- Beverage container recovery has a net cost that must be covered by some type of funding mechanism. Weighted average net unit costs in CDS States are 1.53¢ per container and are 1.25¢ per container in non-CDS States.
- Traditional CDS has the highest gross cost (3.61¢ per container), but also the highest overall recovery rate (61.6%). Net costs including revenue from material sales were 2.21¢ per container.
- Manual handling and sorting by brand (by retailers and depots) are costly (with gross costs of 4.07¢ per container and 2.67¢ per container net costs including material sales).
- RVMs reduce gross cost of traditional CDS to 2.53¢ per container and net costs including material sales to 1.13¢ per container.
- CDS yields the highest quality materials with the highest market values.
- Kerbside recycling programs have the second highest gross costs (2.48¢ per container and 1.72¢ per container net costs including material sales), and the second highest overall recovery rates (18.5% in non-CDS States and 9.5% in CDS States).
- System costs of the California program were among the lowest identified (1.62¢ per container and 0.55¢ per container net costs including material sales).

The report found including unredeemed deposits as a revenue source drastically altered the comparisons, with¹⁰⁵:

- Kerbside recycling programs the most costly (1.72¢ per container, with no offsetting unredeemed deposits).
- Traditional CDS with manual sorting cost 0.80¢ per container.
- Residential drop-off programs (centralised staffed or unstaffed facilities where consumers return recyclables and sometimes garbage) cost 0.30¢ per container.

Surpluses in the California approach (0.42¢ per container) and RVM-based CDS (0.28¢ per container) when the unredeemed deposits are included.

This and similar studies are not directly comparable to Australia's current conditions, especially given age, different program features, lack of RVMs and greater development of kerbside recycling in Australia than the US, however they do provide indicative figures that correspond with trends observed elsewhere.

Regardless of specific structure, any CDS program would have establishment costs and ongoing operations and maintenance costs that will need to be funded in some manner. A 2007 study on CDS for Queensland estimated infrastructure costs alone between \$37m and \$59m, or \$29.36 to \$47.10 per household with kerbside recycling p.a. An estimated 38,900 tonnes of recyclables collected through kerbside recycling would likely be diverted under CDS, resulting in \$7.9m in lost material value to kerbside recycling programs in Queensland (almost \$5.6m in South-East Queensland alone). The study also found that CDS could potentially be Constitutionally invalid in the absence of national consensus.¹⁰⁶

11.2 Administration and Governance

The WA CDS inquiry recommended an independent body governed by a group of representative stakeholders. The investigation also determined that transparency and auditability are more important than whether a CDS is publicly or privately owned, noting that an industry-led program could be accompanied by appropriate legal mechanisms to ensure transparency and openness¹⁰⁷.

A ruling by the European Court of Justice against Germany's introduction of CDS made it clear that there needs to be a sufficient transition period prior to CDS introduction to adapt production and management of eligible containers. Other lessons from Germany include¹⁰⁸:

- An appropriate level of detail is necessary in the original legislation to avoid significant disruptions with CDS introduction (a finding reinforced by Hawaii's CDS introduction), particularly if the deposit amount is high.
- It is essential to first understand the beverage market and then design the CDS around the market. This is especially important given the significant changes in the market in the past few decades.
- Provisions should be instituted to ensure that redeemed containers get recycled.

A State audit of Hawaii's CDS introduction also highlighted the importance of a sufficient transition period prior to CDS introduction to establish transparent and accountable administrative and auditing procedures, commingled redemption rates for kerbside recycling, redemption procedures and a redemption network, and to train staff and educate consumers¹⁰⁹.

Key administrative and governance issue to address prior to introduction of any CDS in Tasmania would include¹¹⁰:

- Authority for state agency staffing and other spending necessary for ramping up.
- Approval process and labelling requirements for applicable beverage containers before they can be sold.
- Transparent and accountable procedures for managing flows of deposits, handling fees and containers to help ensure responsible management.
- Audit procedures.
- Penalties for non-compliance.

- Provisions for shutting down operators consistently flouting appropriate redemption procedures.
- Provisions for quantifying and reporting social, economic and environmental impacts.
- Provisions for reporting both redemption rates and recycling rates.
- Any consumer information and education requirements, as well as internal state agency training.

11.3 Extrapolation from South Australian Depot Data

As one of several approaches to estimate potential recovery under a CDS scheme in Tasmania, Hyder conducted a 'first blush' assessment based on publicly available data from SA's depots for 2006-2007¹¹¹. Reported data for CDS recovery (both in tonnes and in number of units recovered) and non-CDS recovery (which may include CDS packaging recovery through non-CDS routes such as through kerbside recycling) was assessed and converted into values per capita for SA's population of 1,580,000 as of 30 June 2007¹¹². Results for SA's CDS materials are provided in Table 7.

Material	(Units)	(%)	(Units/Capita)	(Tonnes)	(%)	(Kg/ Capita)
LPB cartons	27,812,392	6%	17.6	579	2%	0.4
Glass	122,116,000	26%	77.3	26,432	78%	16.7
PET	99,372,374	21%	62.9	3,750	11%	2.4
HDPE	4,923,967	1%	3.1	109	0.3%	0.1
Aluminium	212,742,480	46%	134.6	3,127	9%	2.0
Total	466,967,213	100%	295.5	33,997	100%	21.5

Table 7: South Australian Depot Return Data for CDS Materials 2006-2007

Source: Hyder Consulting 2008b, with additional analysis by Hyder Consulting

Note that only total recovery values for plastics 3-7 were included in the SA data, as these plastics are not subject to CDS in SA. Calculations on unit basis and splits between CDS and non-CDS recovery are therefore not applicable using this approach for plastics 3-7.

Per capita values from Table 7 were multiplied by Tasmania's population of 493,400 as of 30 June 2007¹¹³ to determine the indicative potential recovery shown in Table 8. These and subsequent estimates have been rounded to address levels of uncertainty.

Table 8: Indicative Tasmanian CDS and Non-CDS Recovery Applying SA per Capita Data

	Net Recovery	CDS Recovery		Non-CDS/ Kerbside Recovery	% CDS Recovery	% non-CDS/ Kerbside Recovery
Material	(Tonnes)	(Units)	(Tonnes)	(Tonnes)	(%)	(%)
LPB cartons	429	8,685,200	181	248	42%	58%
Glass	15,608	38,134,200	8,254	7,354	53%	47%
PET	1,675	31,031,900	1,171	504	70%	30%
HDPE	557	1,537,600	34	523	6%	94%
Aluminium	2,254	66,434,900	976	1,278	43%	57%
Total	20,523	145,823,800	10,616	9,907		

With the exception of HDPE, all of the materials in Table 8 show increased recovery tonnages over the values reported in Table 3 for recycling from Tasmanian Material Recovery Facilities and could be in line with potential recovery volumes under CDS. These results will be addressed further in subsequent calculations as part of 'ground-truthing' various assumptions.

11.4 Material-Specific Calculations

Given the lack of quantification on total numbers and volumes of beverages (by material type and by container type) sold in Tasmania, Hyder attempted to derive estimates from national data for aluminium and glass. These materials were selected as they provided the greatest likelihood for accurate estimation and the most significant materials by weight and material value. Aluminium and glass are also likely to represent the most significant materials of potential net benefits. Hyder determined that estimates for other materials would be too inaccurate or imprecise for this project.

The Aluminium Can Group website reports aluminium can beverage can data on an annual basis from 1980 to 2005¹¹⁴. Deriving from this data and applying 2008 Tasmanian population data, Hyder estimated that 80 million aluminium beverage cans, equal to 1,174 tonnes of aluminium, are consumed annually in Tasmania and potentially available for recovery. This estimate is consistent with estimates based on confidential data from depots and other recyclers in SA, so a reasonable degree of confidence is available for this estimate.

Available data from Tasmanian Material Recovery Facilities (Table 3) for aluminium does not include recovery for 'door trade', aluminium purchased for scrap value from individuals and businesses and shipped directly to mainland markets. A 'low baseline' of 50% and a 'high baseline' of 70% aluminium recycling rates were assumed as potential rates for current aluminium recycling in Tasmania, based on consultations with various recyclers in Tasmania. The 2007 national aluminium recycling rate is estimated at 70%¹¹⁵, so in the absence of specific data for Tasmania, 70% seems a reasonable upper baseline for aluminium in Tasmania. An upper estimate of an 85% aluminium recycling rate was assumed as possible under a Tasmanian CDS based on current SA and California data¹¹⁶.

Using a life cycle assessment approach¹¹⁷, Hyder estimated environmental benefits of recycling aluminium at both the 50% and 70% assumed baseline levels to reflect the benefits of aluminium recycling that may already be occurring in Tasmania. Hyder also estimated the

marginal benefits of recycling at an assumed 85% recycling rate for aluminium, compared to the estimated baseline levels. Marginal benefits represent the additional environmental benefits resulting from the higher aluminium recycling under CDS, compared to the current estimated aluminium recycling in Tasmania. Results are provided in Table 9.

	Potential CDS 85% Recycling Rate Assumed	Low Baseline - 50% Recycling Rate Assumed		High Baseline - 70% Recycling Rate Assumed	
Aluminium	Benefits	Benefits	Marginal Benefits	Benefits	Marginal Benefits
Cans Recycled (Million Units)	68	40	28	56	12
Recycled (tonnes)	1,000	590	410	820	180
GHG Emissions Reduction					
(t CO2-e)	15,100	8,900	6,200	12,500	2,700
Water Savings (ML)	232.7	136.9	95.8	191.6	41.1
Energy Savings (kWH)	47,400,300	27,882,500	19,517,800	39,035,500	8,364,800

Table 9: Environmental Benefits and Marginal Benefits of Recycling Aluminium at Assumed Rates

While the benefits of reduced aluminium beverage litter would clearly be in Tasmania, most environmental benefits of increased aluminium recycling under CDS in Table 9 would be correctly attributed to the jurisdictions where raw materials would otherwise have been extracted or where the recovered aluminium is processed into new cans. Reduced greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions would provide benefits best attributed globally, however from a GHG accounting perspective, these benefits would not necessarily be credited to Tasmania. Therefore, associated environmental benefits of CDS other than reduced aluminium can litter would likely accrue in jurisdictions other than Tasmania.

Hyder also estimated financial benefits of aluminium recycling (excluding externality benefits) under CDS by building on the above estimates and developing the following scenarios:

- Low Range: assumes a 70% baseline aluminium recycling rate, low scrap value range of \$0.50 per kg, a 10¢ deposit value and a potential 85% aluminium recycling rate under CDS.
- Moderate Range: assumes a 60% baseline aluminium recycling rate, midpoint scrap value of \$0.55 per kg, a 20¢ deposit value and a potential 85% aluminium recycling rate under CDS.
- High Range: assumes a 50% baseline aluminium recycling rate, high scrap value of \$0.60 per kg, a 20¢ deposit value and a potential 85% aluminium recycling rate under CDS.

Results are shown in Table 10. Note that these results are indicative only, are assigned broadly (i.e., not allocated to specific stakeholders) and do not include financial costs to implement CDS.

Table 10: Marginal Financial Benefit for Aluminium

Aluminium	Low Range	Moderate Range	High Range
Marginal Financial Benefit (\$ p.a.)	\$6.9 million	\$13.7 million	\$13.8 million

The lack of significant difference between the Moderate and High Range estimates in Table 10 is due to the overwhelming significance of the assumed 20¢ deposit in both scenarios, compared to the 10¢ deposit in the Low Range estimate. Assumed values for scrap value were insignificant compared to the impact of assumptions about deposit value. Scrap values in isolation from the deposit value are provided in Table 11.

At an assumed potential recovery rate of 85% under CDS, aluminium would generate unredeemed deposits of \$1.2m p.a. at a 10¢ deposit and \$2.4m p.a. at a 20¢ deposit.

The marginal financial benefits shown for aluminium in Table 10 do not address the distribution of those benefits (and associated costs) or the potential impacts on kerbside recycling, both of which could be substantial. The clear majority of benefits in Table 10 results from deposit values, as initiated by fillers, passed on to consumers and redeemed through CDS. Allocation of costs and benefits from those deposits is subject to significant controversy (Section 6).

Table 11 examines potential aluminium scrap value for a range of assumed scrap values and across the baseline rates (50% and 70%) outlined above, as well as the assumed aluminium recycling rate (85%) potentially achievable under CDS.

Table 11: Aluminium Scrap Value under Various Assumed Recycling Rates

Aluminium Scrap Value	Baseline 50% Recycling Rate Assumed	Baseline 70% Recycling Rate Assumed	Potential CDS 85% Recycling Rate Assumed
Assuming \$500 per tonne	\$293,400	\$410,800	\$498,800
Assuming \$600 per tonne	\$352,100	\$492,900	\$598,500

Potential for the aluminium scrap values in Table 11 to be diverted from kerbside recycling and impact on collection and processing contracts depends on the extent to which the deposit motivates consumers to redeem the containers, convenience of redemption options and the extent to which current recycling companies establish redemption facilities. Again, available data shows significant variation.

Table 8 shows that in SA in 2006-2007, around 43% of aluminium is recovered through CDS and around 57% of aluminium is recovered through non-CDS means, namely kerbside recycling. However, California data for 2007¹¹⁸ shows that 93% of aluminium returns were through CDS, only 5% was through kerbside and 2% was through community organisations.

Estimations of glass recycling could not be conducted to the same level of detail as aluminium, especially given the greater variability in glass container sizes and weights per container. Reliable estimates of the number of glass containers in Tasmania could not be determined for this report. The glass industry estimates that 90% by weight of glass packaging consumption in Australia is beverage container packaging. Applying this rate and Tasmania's population to the estimated 893,031 tonnes of glass packaging consumption in Australia in 2007¹¹⁹, Tasmanian glass packaging consumption in 2006-2007 was an estimated 18,486 tonnes.

The 2007 national glass recycling rate is estimated at 46%¹²⁰. Applying this rate to estimated Tasmanian glass packaging consumption results in an estimated 8,500 tonnes Tasmanian glass packaging recycling in 2006-2007. However, available data from Tasmanian Material Recovery Facilities (Table 3) for glass shows 10,572 tonnes of glass recycling in 2006-2007. Assuming that 90% by weight of the reported glass recovery is beverage containers, using the figure from Table 3 results in an estimate of 9,520 tonnes Tasmanian glass beverage container packaging in 2006-2007, equal to a recycling rate of 51.5%. Hyder assumed low and high baseline glass recycling rates in Tasmania as 46% and 51.5%, respectively, based on this data. An upper estimate of a 67% glass recycling rate was assumed as possible under a Tasmanian CDS based on 2007 California data¹²¹.

Using a life cycle assessment approach, Hyder estimated environmental benefits of recycling glass at both the 46% and 51.5% assumed baseline levels to reflect the benefits of glass recycling that may already be occurring in Tasmania. Hyder also estimated the marginal benefits of recycling at an assumed 67% recycling rate for glass, compared to the estimated baseline levels. Marginal benefits represent the additional environmental benefits resulting from the higher glass recycling under CDS, compared to the current estimated glass recycling in Tasmania. Results are provided in Table 12.

	Potential CDS 67% Recycling Rate Assumed	Low Baseline - 46% Recycling Rate Assumed		High Bas Recycling F	seline - 51.5% Rate Assumed
Glass	Benefits	Benefits	Marginal Benefits	Benefits	Marginal Benefits
Recycled (tonnes)	12,380	8,500	3,880	9,520	2,870
GHG Emissions Reduction					
(t CO2-e)	4,090	2,810	1,280	3,140	950
Water Savings (ML)	24.7	17.0	7.8	19.0	5.7
Energy Savings (kWH)	13,073,500	8,975,900	4,097,700	10,043,400	3,030,100

Table 12: Environmental Benefits and Marginal Benefits of Recycling Glass at Assumed Rates

As with the estimates for aluminium recycling above, the benefits of reduced glass beverage litter would clearly be in Tasmania, while environmental benefits of increased glass recycling under CDS in Table 12 would be correctly attributed to the jurisdictions where raw materials would otherwise have been extracted or where the recovered glass is processed into new containers. Reduced GHG emissions would provide benefits best attributed globally, however from a GHG accounting perspective, these benefits would not necessarily be credited to Tasmania. Therefore, associated environmental benefits of CDS other than reduced glass litter would likely accrue in jurisdictions other than Tasmania.

The estimates of environmental benefits of aluminium and glass recycling under CDS above are net of collection and transport impacts for recovering these materials and processing them into new products. Impacts of additional consumer trips to redeem containers through depots^{vii}

^{vii} Redemptions at point of sale, whether through retailers or RVMs, are assumed to have no additional transport impacts as consumers are likely to return containers to point of sale in the course of other shopping, rather than making a separate trip to redeem the containers.

would on the surface appear to generate greater environmental impact than the relatively efficient collections from kerbside recycling. However, in 2000 the peer-reviewed *Independent Assessment of Kerbside Recycling in Australia*¹²² determined that the environmental costs of collection and long distance hauling to end use markets were far less than the environmental benefits from recycling kerbside recyclables. Impacts associated with the collection system were estimated at only \$3 per household p.a.

The Independent Assessment of Kerbside Recycling in Australia¹²³ also determined that the overall average benefit for regional areas of \$29 per household p.a. for kerbside recycling would reduce to zero when the average travel distance to markets exceeds 1,300 km for the material mix collected. The report noted that viable travel distance varies by material. The average transport distance assumed for glass in the assessment was 287 km from Tasmanian regional centres and 300 km for Tasmanian rural and metro centres. For aluminium, the average transport distance assumed in the assessment was 1,320 km from Tasmanian regional centres and rural areas, and 2,100 km from Tasmanian metro areas. Transport of recovered materials to end use markets is therefore likely to diminish most of the environmental benefits possible under CDS for aluminium and potentially glass. While secondary market development can offset some of the transport impacts for glass, recovered aluminium and plastics would still require shipment out of Tasmania.

12 Conclusions

Although additional analyses and consultations would be necessary to refine specific components, analysis indicates that the most feasible CDS for Tasmania would have the following features:

- Operational Approach: One designated not-for-profit business responsible for implementing the CDS system. Both industry-driven and NGO-driven approaches were supported by stakeholders, but we see no particular reason to exclude either and suggest the possibility of one not-for-profit business comprising industry and/or community groups to be determined following an open, competitive process and Ministerial appointment. The selection process would involve expected performance indicators and flexibility in developing optimal consumer convenience, redemption features (depots, reverse vending machines and/or point of sale) to capitalise on existing and proposed infrastructure, and optimising a CDS approach while minimising costs. Funding could be tied to a large extent to performance indicators such as recovery rates to minimise perverse incentives.
- **Deposit:** A deposit of 20¢ per designated container is recommended. Where stakeholders indicated that a deposit would motivate consumers, 10¢ was seen as sufficient and 20¢ was not viewed as providing significantly stronger incentive. A 20¢ deposit would likely increase recovery rates and provide greater incentive over time than a 10¢ deposit, but could also result in significant distortions and potential for fraud. Enforcement efforts will need to be adequately designed and funded.
- **Container scope:** Beer, carbonated soft drinks and water are included in all CDS programs and are significant source of beverage containers. Demarcation within and beyond this traditional scope of beverage containers would be necessary to address the vast range of beverage and container types currently available and likely in the future. However, in order to maximise equity and minimise potential distortions between beverage types (especially given the relatively high recommended deposit of 20¢), it is recommended that CDS apply to all beverages in liquid or "ready to drink" form intended for human consumption.
 - **Redemption Features:** An estimated 38 to 46 depots would likely be necessary to ensure comparable coverage in metropolitan areas and regional centres to current CDS programs. Initial capital costs of \$9.5m to \$13.8m could be expected for depot establishment. Potential roles for reverse vending machines and the possibility of point of sale returns should be considered, but the precise mix of redemption options should be the responsibility of the not-for-profit business given responsibility for implementation. The not-for-profit business would be obligated to deliver optimal coverage and convenience and maximise return rates, while minimising program costs.
- **Unredeemed Deposits:** At a 20¢ deposit amount, annual unredeemed deposits almost exactly equal the range of estimated initial capital costs for depot establishment (\$9.3m at an 80% return rate and \$13.9m under a 70% return rate). Additional programs costs such as enforcement, education and other means of providing redemption facilities would need to be addressed through material scrap values and/or through additional Container Recycling Fee or handling fee arrangements.
- Handling Fees/ Container Recycling Fees: Enabling legislation should allow for variable Container Recycling Fees to be paid to redemption operators to address program costs not captured in the deposit amount of unredeemed deposits. These Container Recycling Fees should be regularly reviewed, revised and reported in a transparent manner and underpinned by independent auditing and verification.
 - Legislative Arrangements: A broad range of legislative arrangements and their respective costs would need to be considered prior to any introduction of CDS. Chief

among these are: need for national consistency to minimise likelihood of Constitutional challenges; applicability of GST; objectives the program is intended to accomplish; robust exploration of options, specifically including advance disposal/recycling fees and material specific fees such as a glass levy; analysis of social, economic and environmental costs and benefits; and evaluation of *Trade Practice Act* and *Mutual Recognition Act* implications.

Administration and Governance: As with legislative arrangements, a broad range of administrative and governance issues and their respective costs have been identified that would need to be considered prior to any introduction of CDS and to assist transitioning into a new approach. It is essential to first understand the beverage market in far greater detail than is currently available and then design CDS specifics around the market. Provisions should also be instituted to ensure that redeemed containers get recycled, including funding for local secondary market development for materials problematic in Tasmania such as glass.

Modelling yielded the following environmental benefits and marginal benefits for aluminium (Table 13) and glass (Table 14). Marginal benefits are the additional benefits resulting from CDS above and beyond assumed levels of baseline recycling activity. Associated environmental benefits of CDS other than reduced glass litter would likely accrue in jurisdictions other than Tasmania; benefits from reduced GHG emissions are global in nature and not likely to be credited specifically to Tasmania. Results are indicative only, are assigned broadly (i.e., not allocated to specific stakeholders) and do not include financial costs to implement CDS.

	Potential CDS 85% Recycling Rate Assumed	Low Baseline - 50% Recycling Rate Assumed		 High Baseline - 70 Recycling Rate Assume 	
Aluminium	Benefits	Benefits	Marginal Benefits	Benefits	Marginal Benefits
Cans Recycled (Million Units)	68	40	28	56	12
Recycled (tonnes)	1,000	590	410	820	180
GHG Emissions Reduction (t CO2-e)	15,100	8,900	6,200	12,500	2.700
Water Savings (ML)	232.7	136.9	95.8	191.6	41.1
Energy Savings (kWH)	47,400,300	27,882,500	19,517,800	39,035,500	8,364,800

Table 14: Environmental Benefits and Marginal Benefits of Recycling Glass at Assumed Rates

	Potential CDS 67% Recycling Rate Assumed	Low Baseline - 46% Recycling Rate Assumed		High Bas Recycling R	eline - 51.5% ate Assumed
Aluminium	Benefits	Benefits	Marginal Benefits	Benefits	Marginal Benefits
Recycled (tonnes)	12,380	8,500	3,880	9,520	2,870
GHG Emissions Reduction					
(t CO2-e)	4,090	2,810	1,280	3,140	950
Water Savings (ML)	24.7	17.0	7.8	19.0	5.7
Energy Savings (kWH)	13,073,500	8,975,900	4,097,700	10,043,400	3,030,100

Transport of recovered materials to end use markets is likely to diminish most of the environmental benefits possible under CDS for aluminium and potentially glass. While secondary market development can offset some of the transport impacts for glass, recovered aluminium and plastics would still require shipment out of Tasmania.

Endnotes

- ¹ EUROPEN 2007
- ² C4ES 2000, State of Hawaii 2005
- ³ Franklin 1997, OECD 2005
- ⁴ OECD 2005
- ⁵ Perchards 2008a
- ⁶ C4ES 2000
- ⁷ Boomerang Alliance 2008a, Boomerang Alliance 2008b, C4ES 2000, Martin 2003, MS2 2006, West and Hogarth 2005
- ⁸ Perchards 2008a
- ⁹ C4ES 2000, C4ES 2002, Perchards 2008a
- ¹⁰ State of Hawaii 2005
- ¹¹ Perchards 2008a, State of Hawaii 2005
- ¹² C4ES 2000, CJ Consulting 2003, CM Consulting 2003
- ¹³ C4ES 2000
- ¹⁴ Personal communication with Neil Hastie, CEO of Encorp Pacific
- ¹⁵ EUROPEN 2007, Perchards 2008a
- ¹⁶ Perchards 2008a
- ¹⁷ C4ES 2000
- ¹⁸ Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007
- ¹⁹ Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007
- ²⁰ Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007
- ²¹ Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007
- ²² CM Consulting 2003, Perchards 2008a, RW Beck 2002, SAG 2007
- ²³ Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007
- ²⁴ SAG 2007
- ²⁵ Perchards 2008a
- AA002192—Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System for Tasmania Hyder Consulting Pty Ltd-ABN 76 104 485 289 g:\hyder\tas cdl aa002192\final report\aa002192-r03-04.doc

²⁶ EPA South Australia 2002, ISF 2001, Perchards 2008a, RW Beck 2002, SAG 2007, State of Hawaii 2005

²⁷ Perchards 2008a

²⁸ SAG 2007

²⁹ Boomerang Alliance 2008a, Boomerang Alliance 2008b, Boomerang Alliance 2008c, C4ES 2000, ISF 2001, SAG 2007

³⁰ C4ES 2000

³¹ Hudson Howells 2005

³² Covec 2008, Hudson Howells 2005

³³ Boomerang Alliance 2008a, Boomerang Alliance 2008b, Boomerang Alliance 2008c, C4ES 2000, ISF 2001, Parliament of Tasmania 2006, Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007

³⁴ AECgroup 2007

- ³⁵ Parliament of Tasmania 2006, p.18
- ³⁶ IndustryEdge 2009
- ³⁷ Martin 1998, Martin 2003, MS2 2006
- ³⁸ Hudson Howells 2005
- ³⁹ C4ES 2000
- ⁴⁰ Perchards 2008a
- ⁴¹ Perchards 2008a, RW Beck 2002, SAG 2007, State of Hawaii 2005
- ⁴² Perchards 2008a, RW Beck 2002, SAG 2007, State of Hawaii 2005
- ⁴³ CM Consulting 2003

44 ISF 2001

⁴⁵ SAG 2007

⁴⁶ California Division of Recycling, CM Consulting 2003, Government of South Australia 2008, MS2 2006, MS2 and Perchards 2008, RW Beck 2002

⁴⁷ C4ES 2000

- ⁴⁸ Perchards 2008a
- ⁴⁹ Pintgen 2008
- ⁵⁰ State of Hawaii 2005
- ⁵¹ DoC 2006, Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007

⁵² Perchards 2008a

⁵³ Hudson Howells 2005, p.10

⁵⁴ SAG 2007

⁵⁵ C4ES 2000

⁵⁶ SAG 2007

⁵⁷ Boomerang Alliance 2008a, Boomerang Alliance 2008b, Boomerang Alliance 2008c, C4ES 2000, C4ES 2002, EPA South Australia 2002, ISF 2001, Martin 2005a and 2005b, Morawski 1999, MS2 2006, MS2 and Perchards 2008, Perchards 2008a, Productivity Commission 2006, Parliament of Tasmania 2006

⁵⁸ Martin 2005a, Martin 2005b, MS2 2006

⁵⁹ C4ES 2002, Perchards 2008a

⁶⁰ C4ES 2000, EUROPEN 2007, MS2 2006, MS2 and Perchards 2008, Perchards 2008a

⁶¹ Boomerang Alliance 2008c

⁶² Perchards 2008b

⁶³ Pintgen 2008

⁶⁴ EUROPEN 2007, Perchards et al 2005

65 ISF 2001

⁶⁶ Martin 2005a, Martin 2005b, Queensland EPA 2007b

⁶⁷ MS2 2006, Perchards 2008a

⁶⁸ MMA and BDA Group 2003, Productivity Commission 2006

⁶⁹ MS2 2006

⁷⁰ Boomerang Alliance 2008a, Boomerang Alliance 2008b, Boomerang Alliance 2008c, Boomerang Alliance 2008d, C4ES 2000, C4ES 2002, CJ Consulting Inc. 2003, Covec 2007, Envision 2007, EPA Victoria 2003, EUROPEN 2004, ISF 2001, LGSA 2000, MS2 2006, Parliament of Tasmania 2006, Perchards 2008a, Perchards 2008b, Revive Recycling 2008, RW Beck 2002, SAG 2007, SRM *et al* 2005

⁷¹ Hyder Consulting 2008a

⁷² C4ES 2000, C4ES 2002, Covec 2008, EPA Victoria 2003, EUROPEN 2004, MS2 2006, Parliament of Tasmania 2006, Perchards 2008a, Perchards 2008b, Productivity Commission 2006, RW Beck 2002, Syrek 2003

⁷³ Martin 2005a

⁷⁴ Martin 2005b

⁷⁵ C4ES 2002

⁷⁶ EPA Victoria 2003

⁷⁷ Covec 2008

⁷⁸ EPA Victoria 2003

⁷⁹ Boomerang Alliance 2008a, Boomerang Alliance 2008b, Boomerang Alliance 2008c, Boomerang Alliance 2008d, C4ES 2000, C4ES 2002, CJ Consulting Inc. 2003, Envision 2007, EPA Victoria 2003, EUROPEN 2004, ISF 2001, LGSA 2000, MS2 2006, Parliament of Tasmania 2006, Perchards 2008a, Perchards 2008b, Revive Recycling 2008, RW Beck 2002, SAG 2007

⁸⁰ McGregor Tan Research 2004

⁸¹ Queensland EPA 2008

⁸² C4ES 2000

⁸³ Perchards 2008a

⁸⁴ SWSA 2007

⁸⁵ DTAE 2007

⁸⁶ C4ES 2000

⁸⁷ DTAE 2007 and NEPC 2008

⁸⁸ SWSA 2006

⁸⁹ Government of Tasmania 2008

⁹⁰ SWSA 2006

⁹¹ KAB 2008

⁹² DTAE 2007

93 Perchards 2008a

94 Perchards 2008a

⁹⁵ ABS 2009

⁹⁶ C4ES 2000, ISF 2001 and EPA Victoria 2003, as adjusted for inflation

⁹⁷ Pers comm. with Jenny Pickles of the Australian Food and Grocery Council's Packaging Stewardship Forum.

⁹⁸ ABS 2009

⁹⁹ DoC 2006, Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007

¹⁰⁰ C4ES 2000

¹⁰¹ Envision 2007, Hudson Howells 2005, Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007, State of Hawaii 2005

¹⁰² Perchards 2008a

¹⁰³ Hudson Howells 2005

¹⁰⁴ RW Beck 2002

¹⁰⁵ RW Beck 2002

¹⁰⁶ Queensland EPA 2007a, Queensland EPA 2007b

¹⁰⁷ SAG 2007

¹⁰⁸ Perchards 2008a

¹⁰⁹ Perchards 2008a, State of Hawaii 2005

¹¹⁰ Envision 2007, Hudson Howells 2005, Perchards 2008a, SAG 2007, State of Hawaii 2005

¹¹¹ Hyder Consulting 2008b

¹¹² ABS 2008

¹¹³ ABS 2008

¹¹⁴ Available at <u>http://esvc000061.wic032u.server-web.com/Facts2.html</u>.

¹¹⁵ Reported by the National Packaging Covenant Council in the Covenant's Mid-Term Review, end 2008 and in Hyder Consulting 2008a.

¹¹⁶ Hyder Consulting 2008b, California Department of Conservation 2008

¹¹⁷ For the purposes of deriving easily communicable benefits associated with container recycling, life cycle inventory (LCI) databases were used to determine the greenhouse benefits, energy savings and water savings associated with recycling glass and aluminium containers. Virgin product systems have been directly compared to recycled product systems to determine the environmental benefits associated with recycling each material type. The avoidance of impacts associated with resource extraction, materials production and manufacturing process were also included. These scientific conversion factors were derived from assessment calculations and modelling done as part of the Benefits of Recycling study and calculator prepared by Nolan ITU (now Hyder) for the New South Wales Department of Environment and Climate Change. The Benefits of Recycling study provides a detailed methodology and further information on the sources and relevant assumptions used in deriving these factors.

¹¹⁸ California Department of Conservation 2008

¹¹⁹ Hyder Consulting 2008c, MS2 and Perchards 2008

¹²⁰ Reported by the National Packaging Covenant Council in the Covenant's Mid-Term Review, end 2008 and in Hyder Consulting 2008a.

¹²¹ California Department of Conservation 2008

¹²² Nolan-ITU and SKM 2000

¹²³ Nolan-ITU and SKM 2000

Appendix A

References

ABS (2008), *3235.0 - Population by Age and Sex, Regions of Australia, 2007, Australian Bureau of Statistics.* [Accessed April 2009] http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Products/3235.0~2007~Main+Features~South+Australia?OpenDocument.

ABS (2009), *3101.0 - Australian Demographic Statistics, Sep 2008, Australian Bureau of Statistics.* [Accessed March 2009] <<u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/3101.0</u>>.

AECgroup (2007). *Cost-Benefit Analysis of Economic Instruments for Waste Management*, Local Government Association of Queensland, Brisbane.

Boomerang Alliance (2008a). Container Deposits: The Common Sense Approach – Financial Analysis of Costs & Benefits of a National Container Deposit System.

Boomerang Alliance (2008b). *Management of Australia's Waste Streams and the Drink Container Recycling Bill*, Submission to the Senate Standing Committee on Environment, Communications and the Arts, Enquiry into the Management of Australia's Waste Streams.

Boomerang Alliance (2008c). *Additional Information*, Submission to the Senate Standing Committee on Environment, Communications and the Arts, Enquiry into the Management of Australia's Waste Streams.

Boomerang Alliance (2008d). *Container Deposits: The Common Sense Approach Towards a Zero Waste Society*.

C4ES (2000). *Impact of Container Deposit Legislation on New South Wales Recycling and Litter Management Programs, Beverage Industry* Environment Council. Centre for Environmental Solutions, Sydney.

C4ES (2002). *Impacts of Implementing Container Deposit Legislation in the ACT*, ACT NoWaste. Centre for Environmental Solutions, Sydney.

California Department of Conservation (2008). *Calendar Year 2007 Report of Beverage Container Sales, Returns, Redemption & Recycling Rates.* [Accessed March 2009] http://www.conservation.ca.gov/dor/Notices/Documents/BiannualLong.pdf>.

CJ Consulting Inc. (2003). Return for Refund Where Applicable: Implementing a Deposit-Return System for Used Beverage Containers in the Province of Ontario, Final Draft prepared for the Programme in Planning, University of Toronto. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.aagw.ca/documents/deposit_rtn_system_uoft.pdf</u>>

CM Consulting Inc. (2003). *Evaluating the Relationship Between Refund Values and Beverage Container Recovery*. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.petrecycling.cz/bottle_bill_cri_site_map.htm</u>>

CM Consulting (2006). Who Pays What: An Analysis of Beverage Container Recovery and Costs in Canada 2004-2005. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.env.gov.bc.ca/epd/recycling/resources/reports/bcrc.htm</u>>.

Covec (2007). Recycling: Cost Benefit Analysis, New Zealand Ministry for the Environment. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.covec.co.nz/pdf/recycling-cost-benefit-analysis-apr07.pdf</u>>

Covec (2008). *Potential Impacts of the Waste Minimisation (Solids) Bill: Update Report*, Packaging Council of New Zealand, Auckland.

DoC (2006). Handling Fee Guidelines, California Department of Conservation, Sacramento.

DSD (2009), *Der Grüne Punkt – a strong brand*, [Accessed February 2009] http://www.gruener-punkt.de/en/customer-infoservice/the-trademark-der-gruene-punkt.html>.

DTAE (2007), *Tasmanian Waste Management*, Department of Tourism, Arts & the Environment, prepared by blue environment Pty Ltd. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.environment.tas.gov.au/index.aspx?base=379</u>>.

Envision (2007). *The Incentive to Recycle – A Container Deposit System for New Zealand*, Envision New Zealand Ltd. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.envision-nz.com/default.asp?s1=Envision%20Services&s2=Container%20Deposit%20Legislation</u>>

EPA South Australia (2002). *Survey and Audit of Kerbside Waste and Recycling Practices and Recommended Kerbside Service Standards.* [Accessed January 2009] <<u>http://www.epa.sa.gov.au/pdfs/kerbside.pdf</u>>

EPA Victoria (2003). *Container Deposit Legislation – Financial Impacts*. Policy Background Paper, Publication 883.

EUROPEN (2004). Mandatory deposits on non-refillable beverage containers in Germany: The economic, environmental and social effects, Brussels.

EUROPEN (2007). Economic instruments in packaging and packaging waste policy, Brussels.

Franklin, P (1997). *Extended Producer Responsibility: A Primer,* [Accessed December 2005] <<u>http://www.mindfully.org/ Plastic/Extended-Producer-Responsibility.htm</u>>.

Government of South Australia (2008), Drink Container Deposit Increases to 10 Cents, news release 12 February 2008.

Government of Tasmania (2008), *National Packaging Covenant Annual Report*, [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.packagingcovenant.org.au/documents/File/</u> Government of Tasmania AR 06 07.pdf>.

Hudson Howells (2005). *Collection Industry Arrangements under Container Deposit Legislation*, Environment Protection Authority.

Hyder Consulting (2007). Recycling Activity in South Australia 2005/06, Zero Waste SA.

Hyder Consulting (2008a). *Australian Beverage Packaging Consumption, Recovery and Recycling Quantification Study*, Packaging Stewardship Forum of the Australian Food and Grocery Council.

Hyder Consulting (2008b). Recycling Activity in South Australia 2006-2007, Zero Waste SA.

Hyder Consulting (2008c), *National Packaging Covenant Mid-Term Review: Contextual Review*, [Accessed April 2009] http://www.packagingcovenant.org.au/documents/File/Contextual_Review____FINAL_02.10.08.pdf>.

IndustryEdge (2009), Assessment of the Significance of Contamination by Glass in Recovered Fibre Packaging Material in Australia, Packaging Stewardship Forum of the Australian Food and Grocery Council.

ISF (2001). *Independent Review of Container Deposit Legislation in New South Wales*, NSW Government. Institute for Sustainable Futures, Sydney.

KAB (2008), National Litter Index Annual Report 2007/2008, Keep Australia Beautiful.

LGSA NSW (2000). Submission to Independent Review of Container Deposit Legislation in NSW, Local Government and Shires Associations of NSW, [Accessed December 2008] http://www.lgsa.org.au/resources/documents/Independent Review.pdf>

LRC (1999). *Evaluating Container Deposit Legislation Proposed for Kentucky (House Bill 371)*. Legislative Research Commission, Kentucky, Research Report No. 288. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.lrc.ky.gov/lrcpubs/Rr288.pdf</u>>

McGregor Tan Research (2004). *Community Awareness and Acceptance of Container Deposit Legislation*, [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.epa.sa.gov.au/pdfs/cdl_survey.pdf</u>>.

Martin, R. (1998). *An Economic Instrument for Recycling Market Development*, WMAA News, April 1998.

Martin, R. (2003). *To Extended Producer Responsibility and Beyond*, WMAA News, Spring 2003.

Martin, R (2005a). *CDL in a contemporary context – Implications for Tasmania*, presented to the Joint Standing Committee Environment, Resources and Development, Hobart on 21 April, 2005.

Martin, R (2005b). *CDL in a contemporary context – Implications for LAWMAC Region*, presented to LAWMAC Conference 2005, Cannonvale on 28 July, 2005.

MS2 (2006). *Strengthening Packaging Product Stewardship in Australia*, National Packaging Covenant Industry Association. Martin Stewardship & Management Strategies Pty Ltd, Sydney. [Accessed December 2008]

<<u>http://www.ms2.com.au/pdfs/NPCIA%20MS2%20Strengthening%20Packaging%20PS%20020</u> 6.pdf>

MS2 and Perchards (2008). *The Status of Packaging Sustainability in Australia*, Packaging Council of Australia. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.pca.org.au/uploads/00589.pdf</u>>

NEPC (2008). *Reports from Jurisdictions on the Implementation of the Used Packaging Materials NEPM*, National Environment Protection Council. [Accessed February 2009] <<u>http://www.ephc.gov.au/sites/default/files/annual_reports/2008/AR_Jur_UPM_07-08.pdf</u>>.

Nolan-ITU and SKM (2000). *Independent Assessment of Kerbside Recycling in Australia*. National Packaging Covenant Council.

Northbridge (1997). *Scope and Economic Impact of Massachusetts Beverage Container Deposit Legislation.* Northbridge Environmental Management Consultants, Westford.

OECD (2005). Analytical Framework for Evaluating the Costs and Benefits of Extended Producer Responsibility Programmes, Paris.

OECD (2007). Instrument Mixes Addressing Household Waste, Paris

Palmer, K and Walls, M (2002). *The Product Stewardship Movement: Understanding Costs, Effectiveness, and The Role for Policy*, Resources for the Future, Washington.

Parliament of Tasmania (2006). *Waste Management in Tasmania*, Joint standing Committee on Environment, Resources and Development, Hobart.

Perchards (2007). *Study on Factual Implementation of a Nationwide Take-back System in Germany After 1 May 2006*, European Commission.

Perchards (2008a). *A Deposit and Refund System in Ireland,* Repak Ltd. [Accessed January 2009] <<u>http://www.repak.ie/reports.html</u>>

Perchards (2008b). Submission to the Senate Standing Committee on Environment, Communications and the Arts, Enquiry into the Management of Australia's Waste Streams.

Perchards *et al* (2005). *Study on the progress of the implementation and impact of Directive* 94/62/EC on the functioning of the internal market: Final report, volume 1 – main report. Perchards, FFact Management Consultants and SAGIS Ltd. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/environment/reports_studies/studies/report_packaging_direct.pdf</u> >.

Pintgen, F (2008). *Experience with the Introduction of a Deposit System in Germany*, presented to PRO Europe deposit workshop on 22 February 2008.

Queensland EPA (2007a). *Let's Not Waste Our Future: Queensland Waste Strategy.* Queensland Environmental Protection Agency, Discussion Paper.

Queensland EPA (2007b). *Let's Not Waste Our Future: Queensland Waste Strategy.* Queensland Environmental Protection Agency, Stakeholder discussions presentation.

Queensland EPA (2008). *Let's Not Waste Our Future: Queensland Waste Strategy Consultation Summary Report.* Queensland Environmental Protection Agency.

Revive Recycling (2008). Submission to the Senate Committee Inquiry into the Management of Australia's Waste Streams.

RW Beck (2002). Understanding Beverage Container Recycling: A Value Chain Assessment prepared for the Multi-Stakeholder Recovery Project.

SAG (2007). Stakeholder Advisory Group Investigation Into Best Practice Container Deposit Systems For Western Australia, Stakeholder Advisory Group Investigation On Best Practice Container Deposit Systems for Western Australia, Final Report for the Minister for the Environment.

SRM *et al* (2005). *Economic and Environmental Benefits of a Deposit System for Beverage Containers in the State of Washington*. Sound Resource Management Group, Green Solutions and the City of Tacoma. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.container-recycling.org/papers/WABottleBillFinalReport.pdf</u>>.

State of Hawaii (2005). Audit of the Deposit Beverage Container Program. State of Hawaii, Office of the Auditor, Honolulu. [Accessed June 2008] <<u>http://www.hawaii.gov/auditor/Reports/2005/05-09.pdf</u>>.

SWSA (2006). *Perceptions and Behaviour of Greater Hobart Residents to Household Recycling Summary Report*, Southern Waste Strategy Authority, prepared by Enterprise Marketing & Research Services Pty Ltd.

SWSA (2007). National Waste Management Policy, Southern Waste Strategy Authority.

Syrek, D (2003). What We Know About Controlling Litter: Findings Pertinent to Michigan Derived from Thirty Years of Litter Research, The Institute for Applied Research, Sacramento, California.

West, D and Hogarth, M (2005). *Extended Producer Opportunity: Making EPR & Zero Waste Work for Business and Society*, Boomerang Alliance, Melbourne.

Appendix B

Programme Details
References in the following are provided at the end of this Appendix.

Deposit Amounts 1.1 Australia

Region	Containers Covered	Beverages Covered	Deposit Amount
South Australia	Glass, cans, PET, LPB ¹	Beer, soft drinks, water, juice and flavoured milk ²	AUD 0.05 - 0.10 ²

1.2 Canada

Region	Containers Covered	Beverages Covered	Deposit Amount
Alberta	Aluminium, plastics, glass, polycoat, bi-metal ¹	All ready-to-drink beverages except milk ²	CAD 0.05 Containers < 1 L CAD 0.20 Containers > 1 L CAD 0.05 Wine and Spirit Containers <501ml CAD 0.05 Wine and Spirit Containers 501ml-1 L CAD 0.20 Wine and Spirit Containers greater than 1 L CAD 0.10 Beer can CAD 0.10 Beer Bottles up to 1 L CAD 0.20 Beer Bottles greater than 1 L CAD 0.10 Beer Bottles greater than 1 L
British Columbia	Glass, aluminium, plastics ¹	All ready-to-drink beverages except dairy ²	CAD 0.05 Containers < 1 L CAD 0.20 Containers > 1 L CAD 0.10 Wine and Spirit Containers <501ml CAD 0.10 Wine and Spirit Containers 501ml-1 L CAD 0.20 Wine and Spirit Containers greater than 1 L CAD 0.20 Wine and Spirit Containers greater than 1 L CAD 0.10 Beer can CAD 0.10 Beer Bottles up to 1 L CAD 0.20 Beer Bottles greater than 1 L CAD 0.10 Refillable beer bottles ³
Manitoba	Containers for beer only ²	Beer ²	CAD 0.10 ²
New Brunswick	Glass, PET, Aluminium ¹	All ready-to-drink beverages except milk ²	CAD 0.10 - 0.20 ²
Newfoundland	Containers for all ready- to-drink beverages except milk ²	All ready-to-drink beverages except milk ²	CAD 0.06 - 0.20 ²
Nova Scotia	Glass, PET, Aluminium ¹	All ready-to-drink beverages except milk ⁴	Non-liquor: 10 ¢; Liquor:

AA002192—Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System for Tasmania Hyder Consulting Pty Ltd-ABN 76 104 485 289 g:\hyder\tas cdl aa002192\final report\aa002192-r03-04.doc

			Refillable <1L: 10 ¢		
			Refillable >1L: 20 ¢		
			Non-refillable <500mL: 10 ¢		
			Non-refillable >500mL: 20 c^4		
Prince Edward Island	Containers for all ready- to-drink beverages except milk and drinks made from milk or milk substitutes ²	All ready-to-drink beverages except dairy ²	CAD 0.10 - 0.20 ²		
Quebec	Glass, PET, Aluminium ¹	Beer and soft drinks only	² CAD 0.05 - 0.20 ²		
Saskatchewan	Glass, PET, Aluminium, Sof Refillable beer bottles ² Veg Iced Alco Drir Tab	Soft Drinks, Wine, Fruit & CAD 0.1 Metal cans < 1L			
		Vegetable Juices, Liquor	, CAD 0.2 Metal cans > or equal to 1L		
		Iced Tea, Beer & Non- Alcoholic Beer, Fruit Drinks Mineral and	CAD 0.1 Glass bottles < or equal to 300ml		
			CAD 0.2 Glass bottles 301-999ml		
		Table Waters ⁵	CAD 0.4 Glass bottles > or equal to 1L		
			CAD 0.1 Plastic bottles less than 1L		
			CAD 0.2 Plastic bottles > or equal to 1L		
			CAD 0.05 Juice box and Gabletop		
			Refillable beer bottles: CAD 0.1^3 CAD 0.04^5		

1.3 Europe

Region	Containers Covered	Beverages Covered	Deposit Amount	
Denmark	Aluminium, glass and PET ²	Beer and carbonated drinks ²		DKK / EUR
			Aluminium 0.33L	1.00 / 0.13
			Aluminium 0.50L	1.00 / 0.13
			Steel 0.33L	1.00 / 0.13
			Steel 0.5L	1.00 / 0.13
			Plastic 0.33L	1.00 / 0.13
			Plastic 0.5L	1.50 / 0.20
			Plastic 1.5L	3.00 / 0.40
			Plastic 2L	3.00 / 0.40
			Glass 0.33L	1.00 / 0.13
			Glass 0.5L	3.00 / 0.40 ²
Estonia	Glass, metal and plastic ²	Beer, soft drinks, water and juice ²	EEK 0.50 - 1.00 ²	
Finland	Glass, metal and plastic containers ²	Beer, soft drinks, water, liquor wine ⁶	uor, EUR 0.10 - 0.40 ²	
Germany	Glass, metal and plastic ²	Beer, soft drinks, water ²	EUR 0.25 ²	
Norway	All containers for all beverages ²	Beer, carbonated beverages, wine, liquor, and non-	Aluminium cans I (12¢)	NOK 1.00

		carbonated beverages, milk, milk products, vegetable juices and water ⁷	Steel	NOK 1.00 (12¢)
			^S PET < 0.5L	NOK 1.00 (12¢)
			PET 0.5-1L	NOK 2.50 (30¢)
			PET 1L	NOK 2.50 (30¢) ²
Sweden	Cans, glass and plastic bottles ²	Beer, soft drinks and water ²	Aluminium c (5¢)	ans SEK 0.50
			PET ≤ 1L	SEK 1.00 (10¢)
			PET > 1L	SEK 2.00 (20¢) ²

1.4 U.S.

Region	Containers Covered	Beverages Covered	Deposit Amount
California	Aluminium, glass, PET, HDPE PVC, PP, Bimetal ¹	,Beer, soft drinks, water and juice ²	USD 0.05 - 0.10 ⁸
Connecticut	Containers for beer and carbonated drinks ²	Beer and carbonated drinks ²	USD 0.05 ²
Delaware	PET, glass ¹	Beer and carbonated drinks (except naturally sparkling water) ²	USD 0.05 ²
Hawaii	Glass, PET, HDPE and metal ²	Beer, mixed spirits, wine drinks and ready-to-drink non- alcoholic drinks except dairy ²	USD 0.05 ⁹
lowa	Glass, metal and plastic ²	Beer, carbonated drinks and liquor ²	USD 0.05 ²
Maine	Glass, metal and plastic ²	Beer, soft drinks, water, wine coolers and liquor ²	USD 0.05 - 0.15 ¹⁰
Massachusetts	Containers for beer and carbonated drinks ²	Beer, carbonated drinks ²	USD 0.05 ²
Michigan	Containers for beer and carbonated drinks including mixed wine and spirit drinks ²	Beer, carbonated drinks including mixed wine and spiri drinks ²	USD 0.10 ² t
New York	Containers for beer and carbonated drinks including wine coolers ²	Beer, carbonated drinks including wine coolers ²	USD 0.05 ¹¹
Oregon	Containers for beer and carbonated drinks ²	Beer, carbonated drinks ²	USD 0.05 ¹²
Vermont	Any container composed of glass, metal, paper, plastic or any combination (biodegradables excluded) ²	Beer, malt, carbonated soft drinks, mixed wine drinks; liquor ¹³	USD 0.05 - 0.15 ¹³

2 Handling Fees 2.1 Australia

Region Handling Fees

South Australia Range from 29 to 45 ¢ per dozen, and are included into the wholesale price¹⁴

2.2 Canada

Region	Handling Fees
0	
Alberta	Aluminium cans: CAD 0.028
	PET 0 – 1L: CAD 0.0554
	PET over 1L: CAD 0.075
	PVC or HDPE 0 – 1L: CAD 0.080
	HDPE over 1L: CAD 0.080
	PVC over 1L: CAD 0.075
	Polystyrene Cups (with sealed foil lid): CAD 0.080
	Polystyrene 0 – 1L: CAD 0.080
	Polystyrene over 1L: CAD 0.080
	Glass up to 500ml: CAD 0.0718
	Glass 501ml-1L: CAD 0.080
	Glass over 1L: CAD 0.080
	Drink box up to 500ml: CAD 0.053
	Drink box 501ml-1L: CAD 0.053
	Gabletop up to 500ml: CAD 0.080
	Gabletop 501ml-1L: CAD 0.080
	Bi-metal less than 1L: CAD 0.080
	Bi-metal over 1L: CAD 0.080
	Beer cans at Class "D" depots: CAD 0.0167
	Non-refillable beer at Class "D" depots: CAD 0.0208
	Refillable beer: CAD 0.0283 ³
British Columbia	Aluminium cans: CAD 0.03
	PET 0 – 1L: CAD 0.04
	PET over 1L: CAD 0.07
	PVC or HDPE 0 – 1L: CAD 0.08

	HDPE over 1L: CAD 0.08
	PVC over 1L: CAD 0.04
	Polystyrene Cups (with sealed foil lid): CAD 0.04
	Polystyrene 0 – 1L: CAD 0.04
	Polystyrene over 1L: CAD 0.07
	Plastic <500ml: CAD 0.04
	Plastic 501ml-1L: CAD 0.04
	Plastic > 1L: CAD 0.07
	Glass < 500ml: CAD 0.05
	Glass 501ml-1L: CAD 0.05
	Glass over 1L: CAD 0.05
	Drink box up to 500ml: CAD 0.03
	Drink box 501ml-1L: CAD 0.05
	Gabletop < 1LI: CAD 0.05
	Gabletop >1L: CAD 0.05
	Bi-metal < 1L: CAD 0.03
	Bi-metal > 1L: CAD 0.05
	Refillable beer: CAD 0.0242 ³
Manitoba	CAD 0.10 ²
New Brunswick	CAD 0.03 ¹⁵
Newfoundland	Half-back system:
	3¢ is kept on the non-alcoholic bottles, 10¢ on the alcoholic ¹⁶
Nova Scotia	CAD 0.379 ⁴
Prince Edward Island	CAD 0.10 - 0.20 ²
Quebec	CAD 0.02 per container
	For refillable beer bottles:
	< 450ml CAD 0.05
	> 450ml CAD 0.20 ¹
Saskatchewan	Aluminium cans: p/a
Cachatonoman	PFT 0 - 11 : n/a
	PFT over 11 : n/a
	PVC or HDPE 0 – 1L: n/a
	HDPE over 1L: n/a
	PVC over 1L: n/a
	Polystyrene Cups (with sealed foil lid): n/a
	Polystyrene 0 – 1L: n/a
	Polystyrene over 1L: n/a
	Plastic <500ml: n/a
	Plastic 501ml-1L: n/a

Plastic > 1L: n/a Glass < 500ml: n/a5 Glass 501ml-1L: n/a Glass over 1L: n/a Drink box up to 500ml: n/a Drink box 501ml-1L: n/a Gabletop < 1Ll: n/a Gabletop >1L: n/a Bi-metal < 1L: n/a Bi-metal > 1L: n/a Beer cans at Class "D" depots: n/a Non-refillable beer at Class "D" depots: n/a

2.3 Europe

Region	Handling Fees			
Denmark	Store Group	Aluminium and steel cans	Plastic bottles	Glass bottles
	With RVMs and compactors, received investment subsidies in last 5 years	0.9 ore	1.9 ore	6 ore
	With RVMs but no compactors, received investment subsidies in last 5 years	1.5 ore	6.0 ore	7.8 ore
	With RVMs and compactors, no investment subsidies in last 5 years	0.9 ore	1.9 ore	6.0 ore
	With RVMs but no compactors, no investment subsidies in last 5 years	3.6 ore	6.0 ore	7.8 ore

No RVMs	8.6 ore	10.3 ore	11.2 ore ²
---------	---------	----------	-----------------------

Estonia	Amount not known	
Finland	Amount not known	
Germany	n.a.	
Norway	Manual handling:	
	PET NOK 0.10, EUR 0.012	
	Cans NOK 0.05, EUR 0.006	
	Automated handling:	
	PET < 1 litre NOK 0.25, EUR 0.030	
	PET > 1 litre NOK, 0.25, EUR 0.030	
	Cans NOK 0.20, EUR 0.025 ²	
Sweden	Manual handling:	
	PET SEK 0.20, EUR 0.021	
	Cans SEK 0.00, EUR 0.000	
	Automated handling:	
	PET < 1 litre SEK 0.40, EUR 0.043	
	PET > 1 litre SEK, 0.50, EUR 0.054	
	Cans SEK 0.15, EUR 0.016 ²	

2.4 U.S.

Region	Handling Fees	
California	USD 0.0098 per eligible container ⁸	
Connecticut	CAD 0.015 for each beer container CAD 0.02 for each carbonated soft drink ¹	
Delaware	USD 0.01 ¹	
Hawaii	USD 0.01 ¹	
Iowa	USD 0.01 ¹	

AA002192—Feasibility Study of a Container Deposit System for Tasmania Hyder Consulting Pty Ltd-ABN 76 104 485 289 g:\hyder\tas cdl aa002192\final report\aa002192-r03-04.doc

Maine	In the U.S. the handling fee is about 1¢ or 2¢ in most States, the rate was set by the legislation when the deposit was introduced and not increases since. ²
Massachusetts	USD 0.0225 ¹
Michigan	In the U.S. the handling fee is about 1 ¢ or 2¢ in most States, the rate was set by the legislation when the deposit was introduced and not increases since. ²
New York	USD 0.02 ¹¹
Oregon	In the U.S. the handling fee is about 1 ¢ or 2¢ in most States, the rate was set by the legislation when the deposit was introduced and not increases since. ²
Vermont	USD 0.035 ¹³

¹ SAG (2007).

² Perchards (2008). Personal communication.

³ CM Consulting (2006)

⁴ Container Recycling Institute (CRI, 2008). *Recycling Legislation in Canada: Nova Scotia.* [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.bottlebill.org/legislation/canada/novascotia.htm</u>)>.

⁵ SARCAN Recycling. *Deposit Beverage Containers*. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.sarcsarcan.ca/sarcan/index.php</u>>.

⁶ CRI (2008). *Beverage Container Legislation Around the World: Finland*. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://bottlebill.org/legislation/world/finland.htm</u>>.

⁷ CRI (2008). *Beverage Container Legislation Around the World: Norway.* [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.bottlebill.org/legislation/world/norway.htm</u>>.

⁸ State of California Department of Conservation (2007). *Beverage Container Recycling*. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.consrv.ca.gov/dor/Pages/index.aspx</u>>.

⁹ Hawaii State Department of Health. *Hawaii Beverage Container Deposit Programme*. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.hi5deposit.com/</u>>.

¹⁰ The State of Maine (2008). *Manufacturers, Distributors and Dealers of Beverage Containers*. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/32/title32sec1863-A.html</u>>.

¹¹ New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (2009). *New York's Bottle Bill*. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.dec.ny.gov/chemical/8834.html</u>>.

¹² Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. *Oregon Bottle Bill.* [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.deq.state.or.us/lq/sw/bottlebill/</u>>.

¹³ CRI (2008). *Bottle Bills in the USA: Vermont.* [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.bottlebill.org/legislation/usa/vermont.htm</u>>.

¹⁴ KESAB Environmental Solutions. *Container Deposit Legislation*. [Accessed December 2008]
<<u>http://www.kesab.asn.au/uploads/File/Fact%20Sheets%20-%20Container%20Deposit%20Legislation%20(CDL).htm</u>>.

¹⁵ Encorp Pacific (2002). Canadian Deposit Systems [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.encorpinc.com/cfm/index.cfm</u>>.

¹⁶ CRI (2008). *Recycling Legislation in Canada: Newfoundland*. [Accessed December 2008] <<u>http://www.bottlebill.org/legislation/canada/newfoundland.htm</u>>.

Appendix C

Green Dot Overview

In 1991 the German Packaging Ordinance was introduced to make industry responsible for handling its packaging waste. At the time, Germany was facing a severe shortage of landfill capacity and rising municipal waste management costs.¹

German producers could either undertake direct take-back of their post-consumer packaging or join DSD, an industry producer responsibility organisation responsible for packaging waste management. Under the 'Green Dot' program that was implemented, most producers selling packaging or packaged products into Germany demonstrate that they have discharged their obligations under the Ordinance by paying licensing fees to DSD in exchange for inclusion under the DSD collection system. The Green Dot is intended to indicate on the packaging that appropriate license fees have been paid and the packaging can be collected through the DSD system or the local equivalent.

Broadly similar arrangements– with producers either paying all waste management costs for household packaging or in most cases a share of the costs – have been established in 25 European countries, although specifics of the licensing and collection systems vary significantly. DSD, owner of the Green Dot trademark, has licensed its use by similar industry-run bodies in other countries and the symbol appears on more than 460 billion packages every year.²

¹ MS2 2006

² DSD 2009